Public Document Pack

@ Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

NOTICE OF MEETING

CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING, REGENERATION & ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT

TUESDAY, 21 JULY 2015 AT 5.00 PM
CONFERENCE ROOM A - CIVIC OFFICES

Telephone enquiries to Vicki Plytas 02392 834058
Email: vicki.plytas@portsmouthcc.gov.uk

CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING, REGENERATION & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Councillor Luke Stubbs (Conservative)

Group Spokespersons
Councillor Ben Dowling, Liberal Democrat

Councillor Aiden Gray, Labour
Councillor Colin Galloway, UK Independence Party

(NB  This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on
the Portsmouth City Council website: www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Deputations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision is
going to be taken. The request should be made in writing to the contact officer (above) by
12 noon of the working day before the meeting, and must include the purpose of the
deputation (for example, for or against the recommendation/s). Email requests are
accepted.

AGENDA

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Declarations of Members' Interests

3 Potential Development Sites in Milton Update (Pages 1 - 2)



The purpose of the report is to update the Cabinet Member on the potential
yield of identified potential development sites in Milton.

RECOMMENDED that the Cabinet Member approves the matrix of
housing numbers in section 3 to be used for the basis of future planning
policy and development management decisions.

4 Milton Common Local Nature Reserve Restoration and Management
Framework (Pages 3 - 88)

The purpose of the report is to approve the Milton Common Local Nature
Reserve Restoration and Management Framework.

RECOMMENDED that the Cabinet member:

(1) Adopts the Milton Common Local Nature Reserve Restoration and
Management Framework (attached as appendix A).

(2) Authorises the City Development Manager to proceed with the
designation of Milton Common as a Local Nature Reserve including the
submission of the Local Nature Reserve declaration to Natural England
(attached at appendix C).

(3) Authorises the City Development Manager to make editorial
amendments to the Restoration and Management Framework, in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Regeneration and
Economic Development. These changes will not alter the meaning of the
document and will be restricted to grammatical and typographical errors.

5 Grant to Drayton Centre - Use of Drayton & Farlington CIL
Neighbourhood Proportion funds (Pages 89 - 90)

The purpose of the report is to seek the release of up to £33,312 from the
Drayton & Farlington Neighbourhood Proportion of the Community
Infrastructure Levy (‘the Drayton & Farlington CIL').

RECOMMENDED that up to £33,312 be released from the Drayton &
Farlington Neighbourhood CIL to fund roof replacement works to the
Drayton Centre.

6 Investment in Advanced Engineering and Scientific Manufacturing
(Pages 91 - 94)

(INFORMATION ONLY ITEM)

The purpose of the report is to inform members of the current work to promote
advanced engineering and scientific manufacturing sectors.

Members of the public are now permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social
media during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting or records
those stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the
meeting's venue.







This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 3

Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL
Agenda item:
Decision maker: Cabinet Member for Planning, Regeneration and Economic
Development, 215 July 2015
Subject: Potential development sites in Milton update
Report by: City Development Manager
Wards affected: Milton & Bafifns
Key decision (over £250k): No
1. Purpose of report
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Cabinet Member on the potential yield of

identified potential development sites in Milton.
2. Recommendations

The Cabinet Member is recommended to:

1. Approve the matrix of housing numbers in section 3 to be used for the basis of
future planning policy and development management decisions

3. Background

3.1 In August 2014, the city council consulted on further proposed site allocation in Milton
Ward. These were made up of:
» St James's Hospital
= University of Portsmouth Langstone Campus

3.2  The draft allocations proposed the St James's Hospital site could accommodate 370 net
additional dwellings and the University of Portsmouth site 110 net additional dwellings.

3.3 Following the results of the consultation and a subsequent decision by the Cabinet
Member, the city council has undertaken further site analysis and feasibility work regarding
the level of housing each site could accommodate.

34 It has been found that due to several site constraints at St James's Hospital, the amount of
housing which could be accommodated is potentially lower than the figures in the August
2014 consultation document.

3.5  The working assumption on the level of housing that could be developed at the sites is:
= St James's Hospital - 280 net additional dwellings
= University of Portsmouth Langstone Campus - 110 net additional dwellings

Pabe 1
www.portsmouth.gov.uk



Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

4, Reasons for recommendations

4.1  Given the degree of change from the August 2014 figures, it is considered appropriate to
base future planning policy and development management decisions on the revised figures.

Equality impact assessment (EIA)

5.1 This report seeks approval for a working assumption of housing yields and does not
represent a change in policy. As such, an EIA is not required.

Legal comments

6.1 The allocation numbers are draft only, accordingly, the procedural obligations contained
with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 need not
be complied with; the City Development Manager will advise on the weight to be accorded
to them in any relevant subsequent decisions in which they are of relevance.

Head of Finance’s comments

7.1 There are no forecast financial implications associated with the recommendations of this
report.

Signed by City Development Manager:

Appendices

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972

The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a material
extent by the author in preparing this report:

Title of document Location

None

The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/

rejected bY s O sssrs s e e R o

Signed by:

www.portsmouth.gov.uk



Agenda Iltem 4

Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL
Agenda item:
Decision maker: Cabinet Member for Planning, Regeneration and Economic
Development, 21% July 2015
Subject: Milton Common Local Nature Reserve Restoration and
Management Framework
Report by: City Development Manager
Wards affected: Baffins & Milton
Key decision (over £250k): No
1. Purpose of report
1.1 The purpose of this report is to approve the Milton Common Local Nature

Reserve Restoration and Management Framework.
2. Recommendations

The Cabinet Member is recommended to:

1. Adopt the Milton Common Local Nature Reserve Restoration and
Management Framework (attached as appendix A)

2. Authorise the City Development Manager to proceed with the designation
of Milton Common as a Local Nature Reserve including the submission of
the Local Nature Reserve declaration to Natural England (attached at
appendix C)

3. Authorise the City Development Manager to make editorial amendments to
the Restoration and Management Framework, in consultation with the
Cabinet Member for Planning, Regeneration and Economic Development.
These changes will not alter the meaning of the document and will be
restricted to grammatical and typographical errors

3. Background

3.1 Milton Common is one of the most valued open spaces in Portsmouth and is one of
very few semi-natural areas on Portsea Island. Reclaimed from the sea in the
1960s, it has changed significantly over the past 60 years and is now one of the few
places in Portsmouth where it is truly possible to escape the built up nature of city
life to a more wild place. The Common also contains a vast array of wildlife, which
not only makes the site intrinsically valuable in its own right but is yet another
reason why it is highly regarded by local residents.

Page 3
www.portsmouth.gov.uk



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

However due to its complex history, the Common is a more difficult site to manage
than most semi-natural spaces. The bramble and scrub cover which characterises
large parts of the site has spread steadily westwards over the past decade and this
trend will continue unless the site is more actively managed. Furthermore, a lot of
the infrastructure which was put in place when the site was originally restored in the
1960s is now nearing the end of its life.

New development which is being proposed in the Milton area needs to address the
impact which it will have on nearby Special Protection Areas (SPAs) due to the
increased recreational pressure that would be caused. One way in which to do this
is to enhance nearby green infrastructure in order to divert recreational pressure
away from the coast and towards inland sites. Milton Common represents an ideal
site to put this into practice and will ensure that a more intensive management
regime is possible, the site can be restored and enhanced so that it can reach its
full potential and no harm takes place to the SPAs.

The proposed management framework (attached at Appendix A) will set out how
the city council intends to restore Milton Common and then continue managing the
site in the future.

It should be noted that the first application within the potential development sites is
currently under consideration®. Setting out the full scale of improvements and the
ongoing management that will be needed will also enable the framework to function
as a mitigation framework for the current application at the Light Villa & Gleave Villa
site together with the rest of the schemes that are proposed in the Milton area.

Natural England, as the Government's statutory advisor on nature conservation,
have been closely involved in the development of the management framework. This
was considered essential given the proposal to use it in development management
decisions. They have provided a letter of support (attached at Appendix D) which
sets out that "Natural England’s advice is that the delivery of this management and
restoration framework, in addition to contributions towards the Solent Recreation
Mitigation Partnership, is sufficient to mitigate the recreational disturbance impacts
of the SPA, of up to 897 new residents at Milton."” The contributions towards the
Solent Recreation and Mitigation Partnership are set out in detail in the Solent
Special Protection Areas Supplementary Planning Document.

Local Nature Reserve designation

As part of the framework, it is proposed that formal designation as a Local Nature
Reserve (LNR) is pursued for Milton Common. The site is already designated as a

' 14/01664/FUL - Land At St James Hospital (formerly Light Villa And Gleave Villa) - Construction of two-and three-storey dwellings
comprising 14no 4-bed houses, 12no 3-bed houses, 2no 2-bed houses and 2no 1-bed flats with associated access roads, parking,
cycles stores, open space and landscaping works

Page 4
www.portsmouth.gov.uk



3.8

3.9

3.10

42

Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

local wildlife site, however that does not really recognise its subsidiary role for
leisure and recreation alongside its primary purpose as a nature conservation site.

Under Section 21 of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, a
local authority may declare an LNR where it considers it expedient to do so after
consultation with Natural England. The preliminary work has taken place and
Natural England have noted within their letter of support for the framework that their
view is that there is no foreseeable reason why Milton Common would not meet the
requirements for designation.

Designation carries with it a legal duty to manage the land for the purpose of nature
conservation. Nature conservation is defined as:

(a) Providing, under suitable conditions and control, special opportunities for the
study of, and reseach into, matters relating to the flora and fauna of Great
Britain, and the physical conditions in which they live, and for the study of
geological and physiographical features of special interest in the area, or

(b) Preserving flora, fauna or geological or physiographical features of special
interest in the area, or for both of these purposes

Natural England states that "when local authorities declare an LNR they take on the
duty of care to manage and look after the site". If the sites become unmanaged then
LNR status could be removed. The city council has managed Milton Common for
many years and the management framework considered here would continue at
least a business as usual approach.

Reasons for recommendations

It is essential to formally adopt the Restoration and Management framework before
it can be used to inform the management of the site.

Implementation of the Restoration and Management framework as well as
designation of Milton Common as an LNR will also help the city council to comply
with the requirements of Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act which sets out that "every public authority must, in exercising its
functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those
functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity".

Equality impact assessment (EIA)

A preliminary EIA has been completed which concluded that a full EIA is not
necessary.

Legal comments
Legal comments are contained within the body of the report.
Pagle 5
www.portsmouth.gov.uk



7.2

7.3

7.4

Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

Head of Finance’s comments

A summary of the costs associated with the adoption of the Milton Common Local
Nature Reserve Restoration and Management Framework are shown at Appendix B
This is based on a full cost recovery model for both the capital and revenue
elements of the mitigation package proposed for potential future development in the
Milton area.

The formal designation of Milton Common as a Local Nature Reserve will cost
£1,000. This cost is included in the cost schedule detailed in Appendix B.

Funding for these works will be recovered from developers through a Section 106
Agreement, indexation will apply to future proof the contributions against inflation.
The charge for the works to be levied on developers will be based on the number of
houses proposed for the potential development sites in the area at a cost per home

The adoption of the Milton Common Local Nature Reserve Restoration and
Management Framework will be cost neutral for the council as the full cost of the
development mitigation will be met from developers.

Signed by City Development Manager:

Appendices

Appendix A Milton Common Local Nature Reserve Restoration and Management

Framework

Appendix B Summary of costs

Appendix C Milton Common Local Nature Reserve declaration

Appendix D Letter of support from Natural England

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972

The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a
material extent by the author in preparing this report:

Title of document Location
HBIC Survey Report of Milton Common (2007) City Development
Milton Common visitor tallies City Development

The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/

Page 6

www.portsmouth.gov.uk



Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

rejected by .........ooiiiiiiiiiiii e, (o) | USURSURRRPOIURIIIORIR NI

Page 7
www.portsmouth.gov.uk



Page 8



=%
>
>
o
=
=
res ]
>
o
£
0
4
S
o
o




Page 10



5’ ) @ Portsmouth

the future CITY COUNCIL

Milton Common Local Nature Reserve
Restoration and Management Framework

Adopted 21°" July 2015

cover image: bee orchids next to the Eastern Road (2014)

Page 11



Page 12



Contents

N T L 0T [ T 1o T o PP PP PPPPPPPP 1
A S L= gL £ =TT= = o o NS 7
I I Y 111 o o T @o T2 010 1T o 13
4 | TUTUN® MIANAGEIMENT ... e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eaaeens 35
5 | IMPIEMIENTALION . ...ttt 52
6 | NEXE STEPS @NT FEVIEW ...ttt 58
Acknowledgements

All photography in the framework has been provided by Richard Jones unless otherwise stated and
should not be reproduced without permission.

We are grateful to Dr Sarah Knight, research fellow at the University of Portsmouth for her
specialist advice on the needs of the dog walking community and in ensuring that the management
framework minimises the potential for conflict between dog walkers and other users of Milton
Common.

Portsmouth City Council provides the Ordnance Survey mapping included within this publication
under license from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public function as a planning authority.
Persons viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they
wish to license Ordnance Survey map data for their own use.

e

View south-west over ox eye daisies in grassland (2015)




Figur

Figure 1:
Figure 2:
Figure 3:
Figure 4:
Figure 5:
Figure 6:
Figure 7:
Figure 8:
Figure 9:

Figure 10:
Figure 11:
Figure 12:
Figure 13:
Figure 14:
Figure 15:
Figure 16:
Figure 17:
Figure 18:
Figure 19:
Figure 20:
Figure 20:
Figure 21:

es
The draft allocations in relation to Milton Common and the two SPAS. .........ccccccvvvivvennnn. 3
The potential development sites in relation to Milton Common and the two SPAs............ 4
1194 (left) and 1750 (right) maps of Portsea Island. ..............cccccoeieeiii i 14
1870 map of the south-east of Portsea ISIand. ..................uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie 15
1910 map of the south-east of Portsea ISIand. ..................uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie 16
1938 map of the south-east of Portsea ISIand. ..................uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie 17
1967 aerial photograph of the south-east of Portsea Island.................ccoeevviciiiiiiiineeenes 18
1968 Site PROLOGIAPNS. ...ttt 19
Aerial photographs of Milton COMMON. ........cooviiiiiiiiiiieeeee e 22
the tusocky, coastal grassland habitat which dominates Milton Common..................... 23
The pier timbers and amenity grassland. ... 24
Swan Lake and its reedbeds (left), a adult swan with her cygnets (right)...................... 25
Scrub in the north-east of Milton Common (2012) .......ccooeeviiiiiiiiiiee e 25
The character areas of Milton Common iN 2015. ..........cccovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee 27
The different habitats of Milton COMMON. ..........coviiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 29
Amenity grassland in the southern section and an example of species rich grassland. 39
An example of the benches currently in place at the Common. ..............coooiiiiiennen. 42
An example of a combined refuse and dog waste bin in Winchester. ............c.cccceo..... 43
Examples of the varying nature of the path network at Milton Common. ...................... 44
Proposed CIrCUlar WalKS .............uuiiiiiiiicce e 45
The existing interpretation board on the Eastern Road..............cccccceeeeieiiiiiiiiiiiieen e, 46
The character areas of Milton Common following implementation of the framework..... 49

Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



/ = -4 E - R = =~ - ; oo T
- o —

>~

» \ )
g .k.‘ ¥ - =

ll‘%

-
T




11

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

Milton Common is one of the most valued open spaces in Portsmouth and is one of very few
semi-natural areas on Portsea Island. Reclaimed from the sea in the 1960s, it has changed
significantly over the past 60 years and is now one of the few places in Portsmouth where it
is truly possible to escape the built up nature of city life. The Common also contains a vast
array of wildlife, which not only makes the site intrinsically valuable in its own right but is yet
another reason why it is highly regarded by local residents.

However due to its complex history, the Common is a more difficult site to manage than most
semi-natural spaces. The bramble and scrub cover which characterises large parts of the site
has spread steadily westwards over the past decade and this trend will continue unless the
site is more actively managed. Furthermore, a lot of the infrastructure which was put in place
when the site was originally restored in the 1960s is now nearing the end of its life.

New development which is being proposed in the Milton area needs to address the impact
which it will have on nearby Special Protection Areas (SPAs). One way in which to do this is
to enhance nearby green infrastructure in order to divert recreational pressure away from the
coast and towards inland sites. Milton Common represents an ideal site to put this into
practice and will ensure that a more intensive management regime is possible. The site can
be restored and enhanced so that it can reach its full potential and no harm takes place to
the SPAs.

This management framework will set out how the city council intends to restore Milton
Common and then continue managing the site in the future. Setting out the full scale of
improvements and the ongoing management that will be needed will also enable the plan to
function as a mitigation framework for the proposed development in the Milton area.

Portsmouth Harbour and Chichester & Langstone Harbours Special Protection Areas
For the purposes of this management framework, the 'two SPAS' refers to:

= Portsmouth Harbour SPA
= Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA

A map showing the boundaries of the two SPAs and their relationship with the potential
development sites is in figure 1. These SPAs have been designated mostly for the protection
of significant numbers of waders and waterfowl which spend the winter in the Solent.

At their winter peaks, the population of Brent geese in Chichester and Langstone Harbours
SPA represents 13% of the national population and 6.5% of the global population of this
species. The Solent also supports in excess of 90,000 waders. The intertidal habitat which
the Solent provides, particularly the mudflats, shingle and saltmarsh provide ideal feeding
and roosting grounds for these species which are specially adapted to feeding in such
habitat.

However the SPA species also use a number of terrestrial sites, either to feed or roost. There
is a network in the Milton area (figure 2) consisting of Eastney Lake, the University of
Portsmouth's Playing fields, which form part of the potential development site there, parts of
Milton Common and the Brent goose refuges further north at Portsmouth College and to the
east of Baffins Pond.

Page 18



Portsmouth Harbour. Chichester and

7 SPA Langstone Harbours SPA
\ |
Shaei Rl - g
StJames’s
Hospital |
'\ Univershy of Portsmouth
-~ ~_Langstohe Campus
W Crown Copyright 3nd database aght Orgnanca Sunsey Lizente number 1000 19671 NORTH

Figure 1: The draft allocations in relation to Milton Common and the two SPAs.

What development is likely to take place in Milton?
1.9 Inthe summer of 2014, the city council proposed two housing allocations in Milton:

= Site 70046 - St James's Hospital Main Building and Grounds
= Site 70028 - University of Portsmouth Langstone Campus

1.10 These two draft allocations are set out in figure 1. Together, these sites could result in
approximately 390 new homes in an area stretching from being immediately next to the SPA
boundary to 1km away.

The city council's responsibilities

1.11 The European Habitats' and Birds Directives? protect rare species and habitats. Member
States are required to classify particular habitats as Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and
manage them to a favourable condition. Other 'European Sites' (Special Areas of
Conservation (SACs) and Ramsar sites) have also been designated for other habitats and
species. There are separate Ramsar designations covering the same area as the two SPAs
and the Solent Maritime SAC covers a large area of the Solent, including Langstone
Harbour. Any potential impact of the developments in Milton on the SAC or Ramsar
designations is not covered by this framework. Nor are any other impacts other than
recreation on the SPA designation, such as impact on flight lines or site specific habitat loss,
covered. Further information on this can be found in section 5.

! European Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora.
2 European Council Directive 2009/147/EC on the conservation of wild birds.

Page 19



a

Vi 8

niversity of Portsmouth fir )
/' Langstone'Campus 7%

¢ Y e

2

:mc_r'!!f-'}; Copyraht'sad datatass r};?ﬁ F"'!'rr‘d?\,;’ : itennd nmECsE T o . “:—. T NORTH
) SRS - O T EadLg g = ‘ ~ e

Figure 2: The potential development sites in relation to Milton Common and the two SPAs.

1.12

1.13

The Directives have been transposed into UK law through the Habitats Regulations®. Under
these regulations, the city council must assess whether or not a proposed development is
likely to have a significant effect on an SPA. This assessment is called a Habitats
Regulations Assessment (HRA). This assessment needs to identify the interest features of
the European sites and whether the plan or project would cause harm to them. If necessary,
avoidance or mitigation measures could be included to remove the harm which otherwise
would have occurred. It is also necessary to look at the proposal in combination with other
developments in the local area. A second stage, called the Appropriate Assessment (AA),
comprises a detailed assessment to determine whether there will be an adverse effect on the
site. Only once the HRA has determined that there will not be an adverse effect can the
proposal be authorised.

The Directives have been transposed into UK law through the Habitats Regulations. Under
these regulations, the city council must assess whether or not a proposed development is
likely to have a significant effect on an SPA before it can be authorised. This is called a
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).

% The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (and subsequent amendments).

Page 20



1.14 This assessment needs to identify the interest features of the European sites and whether
the plan or project would cause harm to them. If necessary, avoidance and mitigation
measures could be included to remove the harm which otherwise would have occurred. It is
also necessary to look at the proposal in combination with other developments in the local
area. Due to the precautionary approach® in the regulations, it is necessary to demonstrate,
with a reasonable degree of certainty, that the project will not be likely to cause harm to a
European site before it can lawfully be authorised.

* The precautionary principal: if an action of policy has a suspected risk of causing harm to the public or to the environment in the
absence of scientific consensus that the action or policy is harmful, the burden of proving it is not harmful falls on those seeking to take
the action or adopt the policy.

Page 21



Page 22



Central Milton Common looking east (2012)




2.1

2.2

2.3

24

25

2.6

2.7

2.8

Human disturbance to birds can arise from any activity which results in a change in the bird's
behaviour. An acknowledged issue is the impact which disturbance, much of which is caused
by recreation, can have on the protected species which use the two SPAs and thus on the
conservation objectives of the SPAs themselves.

Disturbance can have a variety of impacts but these generally involve a reduction in the
amount of energy which birds have available:

» Habitat that would otherwise be perfectly suitable and has a high density of food could
be unused or underused

= Birds could be forced to fly away from the source of the disturbance, using more
energy as a result

= Birds could be more alert when feeding, reducing their feeding efficiency over a given
time period

Ultimately, this can cause a reduction in the amount of energy which the individual bird has
available at the end of the winter period to migrate back to their breeding grounds. If such a
reduction occurs, birds will be unable to make the journey and this can result in mortality in
the bird population and the SPA.

The city council has been working with neighbouring local authorities along the Solent,
Natural England and other stakeholders to investigate this issue. A great deal of research
has now been done, through the Solent Disturbance and Mitigation Project (SDMP)°. This
found that some species were able to compensate for increased disturbance by altering their
feeding habits. However a number of species suffered mortality as a result of disturbance
and the rate of mortality increases as a result of a new development.

Following the culmination of the SDMP research, Natural England have advised the city
council that "the (Solent Disturbance and Mitigation Project) work represents the best
available evidence, and therefore avoidance measures are required in order to ensure a
significant effect, in combination, arising from new housing development around the Solent,
is avoided".

Following this, the city council has put in place a mitigation framework through the Solent
Special Protection Areas Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)®. The SPD sets out that
due to the significant effect which is likely as a result of the collective increase in recreation
from development along the Solent, mitigation measures will need to be provided from
residential development schemes before works can go ahead in compliance with the
Habitats Regulations.

Nonetheless, the SPD also acknowledges in section 3.11 that "there may be some
developments, which due to the scale or location, could cause a significant effect alone,
regardless of other development which might take place nearby. In these situations,
developers will need to present a bespoke mitigation package for the development.”

The development which would come forward in the proposed development sites would be
significant in scale and built out on sites ranging from immediately next to the SPA to 1km
away. As such, it is considered that these developments would lead to a significant effect

® This research is available at tinyurl.com/pc9crév
® The SPD is available at tinyurl.com/p3clzsb

Page 24


http://tinyurl.com/pc9cr6v
http://tinyurl.com/p3clzsb

on the SPA designations, regardless of any other development that will happen along
the Solent. As such, under the Habitats Regulations a bespoke mitigation package is
required in order to allow the developments to lawfully go ahead.

2.9 The two primary research reports which are particularly useful in informing the management
framework are the visitor’ and household® surveys. The visitor survey specifically questioned
people using the coast about why and how they use that site and one of the survey points
which was used for the study is at the north-east of Milton Common on the main coastal
path. A total of 32 groups of people were interviewed on 31% January 2010 and 16™ February
2010 and the results show that:

= There were 28 dogs within the interviewed groups, a far higher proportion than the
average in the visitor survey. Of these, 26 were not on a lead.

= Thirty of the groups were at the site for less than two hours, including 17 who were
there for less than an hour. All of the respondents questioned said they visit at least
once a week with 11 visiting every day and four most days. 26 of the respondents also
noted that they visit the site equally all year around although 6 stated that they visit
more in the summer.

= 20 respondents noted that they were walking a dog and nine were going for a walk,
which shows a high level of dog walking taking place.

= The fact that it was close to home was highlighted by 17 groups as being the reason
why they were visiting Milton Common, the attractive scenery by 15, the presence of
wildlife by 10 and the fact that the person's dog liked it or that it was possible for the
dog to be let off of the lead by 10 as well.

=  When asked about how their visiting patterns might be alter if changes are made to the
Common, 20 said that they would use it the same amount if it was busier, though 13
said they would use it less. Better paths would lead to 30 of the respondents using the
site the same or more, whilst 3 would use it less. Most of the respondents felt that dogs
being required to be on leads would not be a positive change with 25 saying that they
would use the site less.

= |nterms of people's general comments about the site when asked, many highlighted
the fact that they enjoyed the site with comments such as "It’s a lovely natural site with
nice wildlife. Would hate to see it change". The presence of litter and anti-social
behaviour and conflict were mentioned by a number of respondents.

= |nterms of improvements to the site a number of general points about improving the
guality and quantity of benches and bins, both those for litter and dog waste were
highlighted.

2.10 This all paints a picture of Milton Common as being an valued area which is visited by those
who live close by on a frequent basis for short day-to-day recreation.

2.11 The household survey was a postal questionnaire sent to 5,000 homes along the Solent
coast. As part of the household survey, people from across the Solent were asked what they
like to do at the coast. Those activities which more than 10% of respondents said they do
are:

" The visitor survey report is available at http://tinyurl.com/obavfs7
& The household survey report is available at http://tinyurl.com/ometdug

Page 25



http://tinyurl.com/obavfs7
http://tinyurl.com/ometduq

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

=  Walking (74%) = Dog walking (25%)

= To enjoy the scenery (73%) = Cycling (18%)

= Being on the beach (52%) = Photography (18%)
=  Meet up with friends (37%) = Swimming (15%)

= Wildlife watching (30%) = Sailing (10%)

= Attending an event (28%)

It could reasonably be considered that all of the activities except attending an event,
swimming and sailing could be done at Milton Common. It is also interesting that only 25% of
respondents said they go to the coast to walk a dog whereas 63% of those interviewed at the
Common as part of the visitor survey were walking a dog.

Households were also asked what features of the coast attracted them to a particular space.
The most popular feature was sea views and attractive scenery with 88% of households
either attracted or very attracted to a site by this. The fact that a site is close to home and the
ability to do a range of routes were both highlighted by 74% as being attractive whilst feeling
safe and the presence of wildlife were highlighted by 73%.

However there were differences between dog owning households and non-dog owning
households in what would attract, and detract, them from a space. The fact that dogs could
be off of a lead was seen as attractive by 77% of those who own a dog whilst there were
higher scores also for feeling safe (81%), the ability to do a range of routes (87%) and the
presence of wildlife (84%). Dog owning households were strongly deterred though by dog
restrictions such as where being on a short lead is required (48%) or where there are 'no go'
dog areas (67%). However Non-dog owning households were sometimes deterred by sites
where dogs can be off of a lead (35%) whilst 42% found dog restrictions and 'no go areas'
would actually attract them to a site.

The bird disturbance fieldwork which formed part of the SDMP is also pertinent. This showed
that 17% of activity that took place at the coast caused disturbance of some kind of the SPA
species. Activity on the shore itself created relatively little disturbance, although activity on
the water and particularly on the intertidal area created proportionately more. In particular,
dogs off of a lead on the intertidal area represented 27% of all of the significantly disturbing
activity recorded. If significant disturbance by dogs off of a lead on the shore are also
included, then this rises to 47%.

Clearly then the needs and desires of dog walkers and non-dog walkers can be different.
This is an issue which has become more prominent recently, leading to a number of research
projects including an investigation by Dr Sarah Kn

ight at the University of Portsmouth into understanding the psychology of dog walkers®.
Following this, Hampshire Country Council published guidance on 'planning for responsible
dog ownership in new developments™°. Ultimately, a fifth of all households in the UK own a
dog whilst a third of visits to the countryside are accompanied by a dog. Dog walking is
incredibly valuable though and has key physical, psychological and social benefits. However
the presence of dogs, and dog mess, at sites can sometimes lead to a degree of conflict.

® Understanding the Psychology of Walkers with Dogs is available at tinyurl.com/ncwp5ch.
1% planning for Dog Ownership in New Developments is available at www3.hants.gov.uk/dogs.

Page 26


http://tinyurl.com/ncwp5ch
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/dogs

2.18

2.19

2.20

2.21

2.22

2.23

Two particularly relevant areas which the research investigated were the characteristics of
spaces which attracted or detracted dog walkers and on managing potential conflict with
other users. Most dog walkers also felt strongly that dogs should be let off of the lead
whenever possible as dogs need and want more exercise than owners could give them if
kept on a lead. It was also important that a space is convenient as, when time is limited,
participants preferred to walk their dog close to home. Patrticipants also preferred spaces as
opposed to rights of way network so that a circular walk could be used and to meet other
dogs and dog owners. In particular, spaces which were not likely to be over-crowded,
particularly with non-dog walkers, were preferred.

The research participants generally felt that picking up dogs mess was an essential part of
owning a dog. Dog waste bins were appreciated in a site and ultimately make it easy for dog
owners to do the right thing. However the number and location of bins required thought as
well as how often they are emptied.

In particular, potential conflict with cyclists and joggers was noted. Although participants
stressed that most cyclists and joggers do not behave in an antagonistic way towards dog
walkers and that there is a need to share spaces, conflict can occur. This is particularly true
when cyclists and joggers approach relatively quickly, before it is possible to bring a dog to
heel or put it on a lead.

It is important to stress the value and importance of owning a dog and of frequently
exercising dogs. It is the responsibility of the dog walker to ensure that dogs behave
considerately to other users of a space. However dog walkers can often feel singled-out as a
group who have a particularly negative impact on a space, whereas in reality they contribute
more emotionally to the site in terms of loyalty and attachment as they visit all the time,
throughout the year often in any weather.

The resulting guidance sets out that off-lead access, being close to home and away from
traffic are the three most important features for a site and are ones which Milton Common
certainly enjoys. In terms of the design of spaces, a circular walk should be available in a
largely open and perceptually safe environment with clear sight lines along pathways. At
least some of the paths should be surfaced in such a way that the dog and dog walker will
not become muddy in the winter and in wet weather. Variety in landscape and in grass length
is also important. Short mown grass is excellent for playing games with dogs and allows
fouling to be readily seen and removed. However some dogs prefer to defecate in longer
grass and too much short mown grass will detract from the naturalistic feel of a site.

One of the most important areas is information and signage. It is vital to make sure that on-
site information is clear otherwise conflict can easily be created or exacerbated. Signage
should also be welcoming and whatever kind of message needs to be put forward, it will be
most persuasive when it is polite, detailed and focusses on the positive consequences of
desired behaviours. Dog waste bins should be provided. These should be in appropriate
locations: close to short mown areas of grass, at site entrances and at major path
intersections.

Page 27



Page»28



' 1 :
! '/

Milton Comiion J oking north (abl/)
“"‘3"-:‘ ". '\ ~' "b“. I o /./‘



3.1 Milton Common is a 46ha area of grassland, scrub and lakes located on the eastern edge of
Portsea Island, adjacent to Langstone Harbour and is roughly triangular in shape. Originally
part of the harbour itself, the edge of the site held a searchlight battery in World War Il.

3.2 For the purposes of this management framework, the site boundary of the Milton Common
Local Wildlife Site has been used.

A history of land reclamation

3.3 The first reference to Milton Common is from 1194 where 'Middleton Common Pasture' is set
out in approximately the area where Moorings Way is now whilst it was further defined in the
1750 map (figure 3). However at this point, Milton Lake, where Milton Common is now, can
clearly be seen as a tidal inlet of Langstone Harbour with two 'arms' stretching inland.

Figure 3: 1194 (left) and 1750 (right) maps of Portsea Island.

Page:30



3.4 The northern 'arm' was reclaimed prior to 1835 and can be seen on the 1870 map (figure 4)

as a marshy area. However at this point, the Milton area was still almost solely agricultural
and St James's Hospital had not yet been built.

s
NS
-
-
P Ly
A%
AN
<
e
7

SR P

LerTy

) i NGE RN QS s 1B 8 - .
2 -~ ! 2 - 35 ~-‘.'>'--(m, Al A3 E 2 i nAvar I = 7a S,

© Crowri ‘Copyright and daé‘ﬁ‘%g:r@'h?‘-’@ranbm Syq',;a‘y: sgance fumber 1Qb019671. o /;_«, NORTH
- ET R SRR A RN \ @ P

Figure 4: 1870 map of the south-east of Portsea Island.

Page 31



3.5 By 1910 (figure 5), St James's Hospital dominates the area which is now Milton, although

around this, the land is still largely used for farming. The northern arm of Milton Lake has
now been completely drained and the area can be seen to the east of the Isolation Hospital,

which later became the eastern section of St Mary's Hospital.

/
V.8
Vide

Mammn -

ighi: LicenCe number 1?L0!9§?1.

RS
slabase.

e
¥ flaxvoab b --

Figure 5: 1910 map of the south-east of Portsea Island.

Pages;32




3.6 By 1938 (figure 6), a substantial amount of terraced housing had been built to the north, west
and south of what is now Milton Common, including around Shore Avenue. Part of the
southern 'arm’' of Milton Lake has also been reclaimed and is being used as allotments.
Although housing is now starting to dominate the area, to the north and east of St James's
Hospital the land is still used for farming. Two quays were also built along the Eastern Road
boundary for flood defences. Further buildings were built around the main St James's
Hospital building by this point.

ALY
%

,_

3

il

v
!
0
-

-
("‘
-
"‘i'

7 Ty -

e g ets
L

© Crowin Copyright and databass righl. Orénance Survey Licance number 100019671, NORTH

Figure 6: 1938 map of the south-east of Portsea Island.

Page 33



3.7 The major change to the site took place between 1962 and 1970 when a chalk and clay bund
was built across the mouth of the lake and the confined area was progressively drained and
in-filled with domestic refuse and other waste. This process can be seen in figure 7 which
shows an aerial photo taken in 1967, during the infilling process which shows the reclamation
process moving towards the centre of the site. Figure 8 shows the bund (top) and the infill in
progress (bottom) in 1968.

~ ‘&“:ﬁ“ "’: '»l”‘- ';.

Figure 7: 1967 aerial photograph of the south-east of Portsea Island.

| e

Page:;34



o
Y -
ot RN A

A %\% 2%
§ : %'ﬁm‘

Figure 8: 1968 site photographs.

3.8 The long term implications for how this infill and reclamation took place are still being felt
today and must be borne in mind when considering future management of the site. This was
later capped and grassed over. The process of the organic matter in the refuse degrading
has resulted in a great deal of settlement and the surface is now very uneven.

Page 35



3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

Today the Common is used as a semi-natural open space with residents drawn to it for quiet
recreation. There is a mix of more natural areas and some amenity grassland (see below for
a more detailed breakdown of the different areas of the Common). A network of paths criss-
crosses the site, including a wider path stretching down the coastline, connecting Milton and
Eastney with the shared footpath/cycleway stretching up the Eastern Road and out of the
city.

The city council has a statutory duty under Part lla ("Part 2a") of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 (‘the Act') to identify any ‘contaminated land’, that is to say any land
that could cause harm to people or the environment. Milton Common is a gassing landfill site
with minimal cover originally added. As a precaution it has already had some further remedial
work in 1996 with regard to the ground gas that the decomposing waste creates and also to
add cover soil over areas where waste was found to be on the surface.

The duties of the city council under the Act exist regardless of how the pollution got there or
the past or current ownership of the land, they relate purely to whether there is likely to be a
significant impact. The 2012 Statutory Guidance* provides further information on
interpretation of the Act. In this instance the city council is both the regulatory authority, and if
further remedial works is necessary also responsible for the remediation. If controlled waters
are being impacted then the Environment Agency, could become the regulator but city
council may still be responsible for whatever remedial works are considered necessary.

Outside of this regime, any works connected with development of land directly is the
responsibility of the developer, and they investigate the land they are developing in order to
comply with the requirements of The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF). Paragraph
109 of NPPF states that the planning system should enhance the local environment by
‘preventing new and existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable
risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil...pollution”. The NPPF
goes further and places the onus on the developer as the developer must ‘prevent
unacceptable risks from pollution” and demonstrate the site will be “suitable for its new use"
(Para 120 and 121). Whilst this relates directly to the site being developed, the intention is
precautionary in nature and intended to protect the end-users and it is considered that it
would apply to the amenity space intended by the developer to be used by future residents.

It is considered that in identifying the land and thereby suggesting that future intensified
usage will be acceptable, the city council is acting fairly, based on the previous report, but
the land condition should be assessed early on in the implantation of the management
framework.

In terms of management, this presents challenges as the way in which the site was filled has
meant that the resulting settlement of the site has been particularly uneven. It has also
resulted in physical obstacles, such as lumps of concrete and metal, protruding from the
ground. These issues make it difficult or impossible to for the countryside team to use
machinery to manage the site. As such, they are reliant on hand tools which are a far less
efficient way to manage a site the size of Milton Common.

Groundwater is locally held in the estuarine sandsand gravels. The University of Portsmouth
have recorded water strikes within the artificial landfill depositions at the Common at depths

1 http:/ftinyurl.com/mdfsaz2

Page 36


http://tinyurl.com/mdfsaz2

3.16

3.17

3.18

of between 2m-3m, approximately mean sea level. The three lakes on the coastal boundary
contain fresh water, with little intrusion of sea water apart from occasional sea spray.

Breakdown of the different character areas and functions of Milton Common

To inform the framework, detailed mapping, using site visits, historic maps and aerial
photographs as well as those taken in 2004, 2008 and 2013 (see figure 9), has been used to
establish the character and function of the different parts of Milton Common.

In particular, a comparative analysis of the 2004 and 2013 aerial photographs has enabled a
calculation of the encroachment of scrub and bramble across the site. During this time, the
amount of scrub and bramble has gone from 7.89ha (17.14% cover of the site) to 11.58ha
(25.22% cover of the site). Left alone, this encroachment of bramble and scrub would
continue and further reduce the amount of the site which is accessible and create a more
monotone habitat.

Figure 9 shows compilation of the 2004, 2008 and 2013 aerial photographs of Milton

Common, showing the gradual encroachment of scrub and bramble which is discussed in
detail later.

Page 37



2P 3

4 G Doy

- "'l" >
"ll :7& &

© o G g Sntkfisey (0, Gt Sy L aul ML

Figure 9: Aerial photographs of Milton Common.




3.19 The tusocky, coastal grassland stretches across most of the site. This habitat creates an
open, natural and almost wild sense of place within the centre of the Common and
essentially defines its character. However even within these areas, the character is not
consistent, as is highlighted in the HBIC report. Figure 10 shows a photo montage of the
different examples of the tusocky grassland which can be found across Milton Common

3.20 It is within these stretches that most of the botanical diversity of the site arises and most of
the notable species are present. There is also a strong coastal element to the species mix.

Figure 10: the tusocky, coastal grassland habitat which dominates Milton Common.

From the top left: the view across the north-east of the Common, Rosy garlic and hoary cress, the view across a
temporary pool, wild carrot, ox-eye daisy facing scrub invasion, grass vetchling.

3.21 The amenity grassland areas of the Common are focussed on two stretches. One forms a
linear strip along the Eastern Road boundary whilst the other is in the south-west corner of
the site by Shore Avenue.

3.22 These two areas in themselves are quite different and serve different functions. The northern
linear strip serves as a buffer between the Common and the busy Eastern Road and also
contains the shared-use cycleway and footpath that runs along the Eastern Road. That is not
to say that the strip does not contain any notable species as with very little trampling action,
a number of species have flourished in recent years, including the Bee Orchids on the front
cover.

Page 39



3.23 The amenity grassland area at the south-west of the site (figure 11) forms a focal point in the

Common where people congregate and more intensive activity takes place. There is a series
of picnic benches and a set of goals which are well used. There is also a set of pier timbers
which were placed here, as well as several other areas of the Common forming a line
towards the sea.

Figure 11: The pier timbers and amenity grassland.

3.24

3.25

There are three clusters of trees on the site, set at the north-eastern, north-western and
southern sections. These provide a rare taller element of the vegetation on the Common
which, following settlement, is relatively flat.

There are three lakes located on the eastern side of the site between the coastal path and
the main section of the Common. These are, from the north, Frog Lake, Duck Lake and
Swan Lake. Whilst not suitable for swimming, they do offer excellent habitat for a number of
ducks and swans which use the lakes and provide swamp habitat (figure 12). They also
provide a very interesting aspect of the Common's character, making it a unique place and
prevent most access from the Common itself to the coast along their length.

Page:.40



Figure 12: Swan Lake and its reedbeds (left), a adult swan with her cygnets (right).

3.26 The final main habitat at Milton Common is bramble and scrub (figure 13). A certain amount
of this has always been present, largely around the three lakes. However over the past
decade in particular it has spread further west into the main area of the Common. This leads
to the break up of the open character which the swathes of more tusocky grassland provide.
The bramble can grow up to around 3m high at some points, resulting in a dominant feature
across the largely flat area of the Common.

SO v 0

Figure 13: Scrub in the nor

th-east of Milton Common (2012)

Page 41



3.27 The extent of the different character areas has been quantified and mapped and is set out in
figure 14, below. The character of the different parts of Milton Common can be broken down
to:

Character areas of Milton Common before implementation of the framework

Character area Areain m? Area in hectares Percer_1tage of
total site area
Tusocky grass 222,552.57 22.26 48.46%
Amenity grass 78,829.20 7.68 16.73%
Meadow grass 0 0 0.00%
TOTAL accessible area:  229,381.77 29.94 65.19%
Trees 22,873.54 2.29 4.98%
Bramble & scrub 115,803.71 11.58 25.22%
Lakes 20,866.59 2.09 4.54%
Other 300.24 0.03 0.07%
TOTAL inaccessible area: 159,844.08 15.98 34.81%
Note: all figures rounded to two decimal places.

3.28 As such, to work out the accessible area of the Common, it is necessary to discount the
areas of scrub and bramble, the lakes and other areas from the total site area. This leads to
a total accessible area of the Common as 29.94ha.

Pages42



Ste boundary

Interpretatian board

Miton Common path network
Eastern Rood segregated cycle rouls and footway
- == = Coastal path

Present day character areas

Tusocky grass
B Aoenity geass
R
B scrub and bambie
o e
. o




3.29

3.30

3.31

3.32

Baseline condition as an open space

The city council conducted an audit of all of the open spaces in the city in 2007*2. This used
an independent specialist to assess both the quality and value of all of the open spaces in
the city. Milton Common achieved an overall quality score of 83%, with particularly high
(~90%) values for being well-maintained, clean, conservation and community involvement.
However lower scores (~65%) for being a welcoming place and feeling healthy, safe and
secure. However in terms of value, the site scored a full score for amenity, recreation, play,
biodiversity and education and so scored an overall value mark of 100%.

A full analysis of how much the site is used has never been done and so was commissioned
to inform this management framework. This used a methodology pioneered by Footprint
Ecology to assess the visitor patterns at the Thames Basin Heaths. The survey used
selective monitoring of key accesses into the site to estimate how many people use the site
over the course of a weekday and weekend.

Each access point onto the Common was surveyed for a total of eight two hour periods, split
into four periods during the weekend and four periods during a weekday. Within both the
weekend and weekday visit, each access point was surveyed during each of the following
time slots:

= (0700 - 0900
= 1000 - 1200
= 1300 - 1500
= 1700 - 1900

The counts took place across May and June 2015. During each two hour period, a tally was
taken of all people (ie not groups but total people including children) entering the site. As the
weather could produce anomalous results, only days and times when the weather was
considered good*® were surveys done. As the surveys were done during the early summer,
this means that the results are considered a maximum and an overestimation of the visitor
pattern during the over-wintering bird season given the fact that a proportion in the SDMP
survey stated that they use the site more during the summer. The results are set out below
with the total counts observed as part of the surveys, summed for the whole site, on the left
and the resultant visits per hour set out on the right.

| Milton Common visitor survey

Total count observed Visits per hour
Weekday Weekend Weekday Weekend
0700 - 0900 56 62 28 31
1000 - 1200 55 55 27.5 27.5
1300 - 1500 42 115 21 57.5
1700 - 1900 63 93 31.5 46.5

2 The PPG17 study is available at http://tinyurl.com/ogn4gnw
'3 No rain that day up to the survey time, no excessive wind or cloud cover

Pages44


http://tinyurl.com/oqn4qnw

3.33

3.34

3.35

3.36

3.37

3.38

It is also interesting to note what the Common is used for. There is a high level of dog
walking with 62% of visitors to the Common going there to walk a dog. Of the remaining
activities, 25% were going for a walk, 11% cycling and 2% jogging. There were also a high
number of dogs noted with 0.94 dogs per dog walker.

The results of the survey let us look at the visitor density at the Common and compare it to
the benchmark density which was developed at Thames Basin Heaths of one person per
hectare per hour. However given that substantial parts of Milton Common are not accessible,
we have used the level of accessible space as opposed to the total site area. This
benchmark density was developed by Footprint Ecology as a density which was considered
to represent a site being reasonably busy™.

This results in an average density of 1.13 per/ha/hr, which shows that the Common is well
used. It is however important to consider that the standard was put together primarily for rural
heathland sites and is being applied in this context to a semi-natural site in an urban setting.
Whilst visitor density is high in the weekend afternoon time slots, the SDMP visitor survey
shows that the site is highly valued and that most people would continue to use the space if it
got busier even (see paragraph 2.9). However this benchmark is considered to be a guide
only and it may well be the case that a particular site can support a higher level of use or a
much lower level of use due to the particular context of that site.

Nonetheless, for the purposes of this framework as providing a mitigation solution for the
potential development sites, Milton Common is considered to be at capacity and unable to

accommodate further visitors without
improvements and an increase in the
amount of the Common which is
accessible to visitors.

Baseline ecological condition

The site already also has a high ecological Al
value. It is identified in the Solent Waders o
and Brent goose strategy as an important
high tide Brent Goose feeding site. The
character of the site, as set out in more :
detail above together with anecdotal 5 ‘ A A
evidence from site managers, confirms g ) : \
that geese predominantly use the amenity ¥ o)
grassland areas to the north and north-
west of the site. The remainder of the site :
is undulating and consists of unmanaged —1 T oy e
grass, water and bramble, which are
unsuitable habitats for foraging geese.

Botanically, the site has a varying [ :
character, which only increases its value. \e
Given the extensive areas of coastal 3
grassland, wetlands and several notable
species, it was been designated as a local Figure 15: The different habitats of Milton Common.

!4 See the Visitor Survey report of Whealen District SANGS (http:/tinyurl.com/npg2ya?)

Page 45


http://tinyurl.com/npq2ya7

3.39

3.40

wildlife site in 2003.

Milton Common's botany is regularly surveyed. Botanical surveys are done by the Hampshire
Biodiversity Information Centre on a rolling programme. The last survey of the site took place
in 2007 and the next will take place in the summer of 2015. The survey found that the
species diversity was excellent with over 200 separate species recorded. This identified the
following notable species:

= Slender Hare's Ear Bupleurum tenuissimum - a UK BAP species

= Yellow Vetcling Lathyrus aphaca - A nationally rare, Hampshire BAP species
= Pale Flax Linum bienne - a county scarce species

= Toothed medick Medicago polymorpha - a nationally scarce species

= Alexanders Smyrnium - a county scarce species

The survey also highlighted the significant variations in habitat across the site. The surveyor
broke the site down into different areas and the diversity of each one is highlighted below
and in figure 15:

Area 1 - The sward is rough with a good diversity of species, including a suite of coastal
species. The most frequent species are false oat-grass, cock’s-foot, red fescue, bents, wild
carrot, bristly oxtongue, creeping cinquefoil and common couch. There is much tall fescue,
hogweed, prickly lettuce, timothy, tansy, ribwort plantain, ragwort, mugwort, yarrow, aster,
horseradish, thistles, fennel, yorkshire fog, rye grass and common mallow. Bramble scrub is
locally frequent, with some elder and domestic apple shrubs Other species present include
false fox sedge, parsnip, amphibious bistort, hard rush, crow garlic, black knapweed, sea
couch, perennial wall-rocket, sneezewort, grass vetchling, stone parsley, toothed medick,
yellow vetching, alexanders and pale flax.

Area 2 -The grassland is rough and dominated by tall fescue and other grasses. There is
frequent cooch, false oat-grass, cock’s-foot, red fescue, bents and wild carrot. There is also
some aster, bristly oxtongue, tufted vetch, hard rush, rye grass, clovers, mouse-ear, spotted
medick, ribwort plantain, fennel, tansy and grass vetchling.

Area 3 -The grassland is very short from heavy wildfowl grazing and public use. The main
species are creeping bent, toad rush, buck’s-horn plantain, rye grass, annual meadow-grass,
greater plantain, knotgrass, spotted medick, creeping cinquefoil and ribwort plantain.

Area 4 -The sward is mown continually short and used as amenity lawn. The grassland is
composed of rye grass, clovers, daisy, dandelion, spotted medick, yarrow, cock’s-foot and
annual meadow grass. There is also much wall barley, tall fescue, buck’s-horn plantain, red
fescue, creeping cinquefoil, hedgerow crane’s-bill, smooth hawkbeard and wild carrot. The
coastal sward have some sea beet, sea couch, perennial wall-rocket, common mallow and
common orache.

Area 5 - This vegetation is found in the more recently disturbed areas, especially along the
banks bordering the south-west of the site. The main species present are stinging-nettle,
common mallow, hedge mustard, common orache, false oat-grass, cock’s-foot, yarrow, wall
barley and cooch. There is also some chickweed, annual meadow-grass, amphibious bistort,
hedge bindweed, bramble, fennel, teasel, creeping bents, ragwort and prickly lettuce.

Page 46



3.41

3.42

3.43

3.44

Area 6 - Along the eastern edge of the site there is a thin strip of this salt-marsh community.
It consists of a rough sward with some scrub. The main species are sea couch, false oat-
grass, sea beet, aster, common mallow, common orache and wall barley. Rye grass and red
fescue are locally abundant. Other species noted include perennial wall-rocket, buck’s-horn
plantain, fennel, grass-leaved orache, spear-leaved orache and slender hare’s-ear.

Area 7 - The ponds support areas swamp dominated by common reed. There is also some
lesser bulrush, great willowherb, sea club-rush and stinging-nettle.

Area 8 - There are several small areas of swamp within the ponds dominated by sea club-
rush.

Area 9 - Adjacent to the ponds there a few stands of this fen community. Common reed,
great willowherb and stinging-nettle are prominent. There is also some hedge bindweed,
creeping bents, yorkshire fog, cooch, creeping buttercup and bramble present.

Area 10 - Small thickets of denser blackthorn and english elm scrub are present throughout
the site. There is also some elder, hawthorn, domestic apple, ash and roses. There is some
rough grassland within the scrub.

Area 11 - To the east there are some dense areas of bramble scrub. These contain locally
abundant stinging-nettle and some elder, domestic apple, japanese knotweed, hedge
bindweed and grasses.

Area 12 - This area is a mix of scrub and rough grassland. Bramble is abundant and there is
much elder and Japanese knotweed. The grass is composed of false oat-grass, cock’s-foot,

red fescue, bents, wild carrot, bristly oxtongue, field bindweed, horseradish, hedge bindweed
and fennel.

Area 13 - Broad-leaved plantation. The plantations are formed of poplar or ash and have a
species-poor, grassy or bramble dominated ground flora.

Baseline management regime

The site is currently managed by the city council, largely by the city's countryside rangers,
both for nature conservation and quiet recreation with an aim to promote the appreciation of
wildlife conservation both for the Common and more widely.

The city's countryside rangers also provide talks and other promotional materials to
interested groups such as the local schools and community groups. A number of
interpretation and notice boards are in place to give information about the site's wildlife and
other issues.

Regular meetings are carried out to bring together the community and special interest
groups. This helps to ensure that, as far as possible, developments and new management
procedures are carried out in accordance with the wishes of those who value the Common.

A countryside ranger is responsible for the conservation management measures on Milton
Common as well as other sites. However it is the informal 'Volunteer Ranger Service' who act
to make sure that any incidents are reported quickly. Given its urban location, the site is
susceptible to anti-social behaviour and crime, particularly fires, fly-tipping and illegal

Page 47



3.45

3.46

3.47

motorbike access. The site is also regularly patrolled by the city council's community
wardens.

The site was recently awarded a Higher Level Stewardship (HLS) grant from Natural
England™ and so management does need to follow the conditions of the grant. This grant
covers the period from 1 March 2012 to 28 February 2022.

This funding covers a number of elements capital projects including removing an eyesore
and replacing information boards. It also includes annual funding for the site covering the
maintenance of the reed beds, restoration of grassland and scrub management. However the
scale of the grant is only sufficient to fund a limited amount of grassland restoration and
scrub management at the site.

It is considered that the available funding from the HLS grant is sufficient to fund a basic,
baseline management scheme, which is set out below. This is sufficient to ensure that the
two aims of preserving the Common's nature conservation value and providing a place for
guiet recreation for those who live close by are met. The city council commits to continuing to
fund the baseline management scheme in the future.

Keep the site free from Litter not only make a site unsightly and deters visitors, but can actually

litter attract more litter and vandalism and is also a risk to health and safety
of visitors and wildlife alike. Therefore, it is important to encourage
responsible disposal of litter and carrying out frequent litter picking.
There is also an educational role of the rangers to inform visitors of the
hazards of litter and dog fouling. Contractor's carryout a weekly litter
scavenge and also empty dog and litter bins

Maintain amenity grassland Areas are provided for family recreation Regular mown areas cut 2
and provision as family weekly between mid-march and October
areas

Maintain the site furniture  Site furniture and infrastructure includes seats, paths, bins and goals.

and infrastructure so that it These are inspected periodically and checked for any damage or wear.

is in good condition, fit for In addition to inspecting furniture, preventative maintenance, such as

purpose and safe oiling of hinges and painting of benches is included in the annual work
plan to ensure the maximum lifespan before renewal.

Ensure that the site is a Signage and interpretation boards are provided at the main entrance
welcoming and safe place points to welcome and advise visitors of what to expect on the site.
for all These boards also inform visitors of the presence and contact details of

the rangers and community wardens. Risk assessments for the site
and operations are carried out and these are reviewed annually.

Inspections are carried out; frequency is dependent upon any ongoing
issues. These inspections identify any health and safety issues and
remedial work are organized accordingly. Portsmouth City Council
regulations stipulate that the rangers must undergo enhanced Criminal
Records Bureau (CRB) checks and also be First Aid certificated.

Develop volunteers, The development of volunteering opportunities whether through the
interest groups and Volunteer Warden scheme and practical conservation groups gives the

® HLS grant reference AG00382454

Page»48



community involvement.
Promote the awareness
and analysis of biodiversity

local community a sense of ownership and is pivotal in the
management of the site. Meetings and correspondence with users
ensures that, as far as possible, developments within the Common are
carried out in accordance with the wishes of the local community and
others interested in the site. Coordinated management of the site
through liaison with statutory organisations and other interested
parties, will ensure that the site is not seen in isolation but as part of a
large overall picture. As the site develops an integral part of the plan is
to promote the site and its wildlife to a wider audience through utilising
internal & external publications, attending local events with displays,
the provision of Ranger led guided walks and talks and also by
supplying information to schools and other education bodies to
encourage the sites use as an educational resource.

Monitor species groups
and habitat development

The habitat management is aimed at maximising species diversity.
Therefore it is crucial to monitor species to ensure management
regimes are having the desired effect; there are a variety of ways to do
this, such as photography to assess changes over time and species
counts. It is not possible to survey every plant and animal group each
year and so a rolling programme of surveys is included in the five year
development plan. Results of the surveys are passed onto Hampshire
Biodiversity Information Centre (HBIC) who maintains the regional data
base. This ensures that the habitats and species of Milton Common are
not seen in isolation but part of a regional strategy.

Monitor and control
invasive species.

There are a number of patches of Japanese Knotweed on the site
which have been treated in the past. These will be monitored and
sensitively controlled to eliminate from the site as required.

Page 49



Page.50



f ooy

. e \.k\c_ ..QL.L



4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

Milton Common is a highly valued semi-natural open space which is extensively used by
those who live close by for day-to-day quiet recreation. However the evidence base shows
that is not yet fulfilling its full potential and the site's legacy means that more effective
management techniques are not possible.

Although the baseline management scheme will ensure the site continues to be accessible
and provides basic infrastructure, making improvements and then maintaining the site at that
higher quality will enable it to fulfil its full potential whilst also enabling it to absorb the
increase in recreational pressure that the proposed developments at Milton will bring.

However it is of course important at the same time to make sure that what makes the
Common valued in the first place is not lost.

The city council has set a vision for Milton Common which sets out what kind of place it

should be in the future.

Milton Common will be restored and maintained so that it is the first choice
for people who want a semi-natural space to escape city life, enjoy quiet
recreation and appreciate the intrinsic value of the natural environment.

In order to fulfil this vision, the city council has set a series of objectives which are set out
below and have informed the detailed restoration framework.

Objective A Improve the
quality of the coastal
grassland habitat

The species rich, tusocky coastal grassland is the main natural feature
and draw of the site. However the scrub and bramble cover of the site has
increased by 17% to 25% over the past decade and left unmanaged would
spread across the site. It is important to better manage the site's botany
both for its own intrinsic value and because it is a draw for visitors.

Objective B improve the
visitor experience at
Milton Common

Those who were questioned as part of the SDMP visitor survey highlighted
the need to improve the site's infrastructure and that this could make them
use the site more.

Objective C divert
recreational pressure
away from the coastal
path to Milton Common
itself

This will ensure that there is no increase in disturbance for the species
which use the two SPAs and ensure that they can feed efficiently on the
mudflats to the east of Milton Common whilst people continue to enjoy the
Common itself. It is currently all too easy to simply walk down the coastal
section without appreciating the quiet atmosphere and scenic views which
the rest of the Common has to offer.

Objective D ensure that
the needs of dog walkers
are sympathetically
accommodated

The visitor surveys that have taken place show that the site is heavily used
for dog walking. Given the high level of disturbance which dogs can cause
to SPA species, it is important to make sure that dog walkers are given
ideal routes which would not disturb SPA species and that these routes
have the appropriate infrastructure, such as waste bins. Nevertheless it is
also important to ensure that any potential conflicts between the needs of
the dog walking community and those who do not walk dogs are foreseen
and addressed.

The restoration framework below sets out what capital measures are going to be installed,
how this will work, how they will be maintained and which objectives those measures will

help to achieve.

Pages52



4.7 1t should be noted however that whilst the coastal path and coastal frontage clearly form part
of Milton Common, this management framework does not propose any changes to that part
of the site. The coastal defences across the north of Portsea Island, from Milton Common to
the Mountbatten Centre, are going to be comprehensively improved over the coming years.
Construction started in early 2015 on the Anchorage Park frontage although Milton
Common's defences are phased for delivery in the longer term. The preferred option at this
point is to replace the existing defences with new earth embankments and a rock revetment.
This will likely involve substantial changes to the coastal path which runs down the eastern
side of Milton Common.

4.8 The capital projects proposed below will improve the quality of the Common. However this
will quickly subside if these capital projects are not maintained correctly. The frequency of
maintenance is noted under each of the projects below and section 5 addresses how
maintenance will be funded.

4.9 The framework below sets out the detailed works which are planned and which objectives
they help to fulfil. The framework also sets out the phasing for each of the measures. The
framework has been phased in line with the likely level of development which will likely come
forward with each application at Milton.

Land and water contamination survey

Objective A v' Objective B v" Objective C v" Objective D v

Prior to the remainder of the mitigation package being implemented, it is necessary to do soil and
surface water sampling and analysis.

Whilst previously assessed in the 1980s and 1990s, the assessment should now be updated
because analytical techniques have moved-on and the screening criteria have changed. The city
council is how suggesting allowing private developers to introduce more people to the pollution that
is present by virtue of suggesting it as making up the required amenity space to allow dwellings to
be built. Whilst the pollution known to remain was considered acceptable at that time, it is also
known that capping soils were minimal and with waste coming to the surface and the opening up of
further areas for amenity use, the land survey should be updated to current standards.

The survey will also test areas within the scrub clearance zones (see below) to assess the nutrient
level of the soil and so confirm the best areas to target scrub clearance and grassland restoration
(see below).

Maintenance frequency | One-off measure

Phasing Short term

Grassland management

Objective A v" Objective B v" Objective C v" Objective D v

Since the initial capping of the site only the amenity grassland areas and the path edges have
undergone any significant grassland management. Low level intervention has been carried out on
the majority of the rest of the site. Management of the grassland is essential to maintain its structure,
balance and diversity. Without management grassland becomes coarse and rank, loses both

Page 53




diversity and interest, and will eventually turn into scrub as it has over a large part of the Common.
This in turn has a detrimental impact on the quality of the Common as an open space and the level
of accessible grassland that is available.

The overriding factor in the grassland management of the Common is the topology of the site. Since
the initial capping there has been a great deal of resettling of the surface and subsurface as the
organic material has decomposed. This has left the surface very uneven and difficult to work
especially with machinery. It has also resulted in the exposure of a certain amount of the old
dumped material such as concrete blocks and metal reinforcing bars.

An initial assessment of the site will therefore be carried out to identify areas of the Common which
after initial clearance should be managed as:

= meadow grassland

= tusocky grassland

= scrub management

Areas which are reasonably even, which after initial clearance, could be managed mechanically
could be designated as meadow grassland. Areas that could be managed with small machinery and
hand tools could be managed as tussocky grassland.

In the absence of effective management, short and often species-rich swards can become
dominated by a combination of course grasses, tall herbs and scrub. These species are able to out-
compete the less vigorous herbs and fine-leaved grasses for water, light and nutrients. The southern
section of Milton Common has already become dominated by such course grasses. However by
implementing a management regime, the remaining desirable species will be stimulated to flourish.
This has already been successful in areas of the Common which have had occasional cuts and are
now very species rich. In 2014, one such area produced hundreds of Bee Orchid spikes (see cover
image).

From the second year after the initial cut, a management regime will be introduced to maintain
maximum diversity and flowering interest within the grassland. This will be achieved by cutting in
sections at different times from July to the end of August. This spread of cutting times not only
maximises variation and diversity on site but also spreads the workload over the summer making
larger areas manageable. Grassland should not be cut in May or June, so as too not disturb nesting
birds. Parts of the grassland will be left into September so that late flowering species can seed. The
character and composition of the meadow will continue to change with time and we will get an
understanding of the best techniques and timings for the site. Eventually a relatively stable
community will develop, the balance of which will reflect management, soil fertility and the natural
environment of the site.

Established grassland that is not mown regularly will become rough and "tussocky" in character.
This grassland type is not as diverse or attractive as meadowland, but once established requires
minimal maintenance. This can form useful refuge habitat on margins and areas difficult to manage
mechanically. To control scrub and bramble development tussocky areas will require cutting every
few years between October and February. For wildlife this cutting is best done on a rotational basis
so leaving part as an undisturbed refuge.

Pages b4




Figure 16: Amenity grassland in the southern section and an example of species rich grassland.

Left: the current grassland in the southern section of Milton Common, right: an example of flowering
grassland at Fort Widley, rich with oxeye daisy, bulbous buttercup, beaked hawksbeard.

Left image: Portsmouth City Council

Where possible exposed material such as concrete blocks will be brought together and made into
hibernacula for reptiles, amphibians and small mammals. These rock piles are locations that can be
great refuges and over-wintering sites (hibernacula) for reptiles and amphibians - providing habitat,
cover, locations to bask, and food. Construction would involve bringing together inorganic and
organic matter in piles which would then be partly turfed which will weather proof part of the
structure as well as making it more aesthetic.

The existing HLS grant which the city council has is sufficient to fund a degree of grassland
management. However the modest scale of the grant is not nearly enough to fund the scale of
change being envisaged here and only until 2022.

It is considered that the grassland management regime set out will represent a subtle, but
substantial, shift and will improve and emphasise the semi-natural environment at Milton Common
which in turn will help to draw people to use the Common more.

Annual measure each summer. The cost of the mowing regime has been

Maintenance frequency .
annualised.

Phasing Short-medium term

\ Bramble and scrub clearance

Objective A v' Objective B v Objective C v Objective D

Milton Common has historically been made up of a reasonable level of scrub and bramble cover and
this benefits the site by providing habitat to songbirds and invertebrates. However over the past
decade, it has spread steadily westwards, converting 3.69ha of tusocky grassland to scrub and
bramble over the last decade. Management of this has been problematic due to the difficulties of
getting machinery onto the site and available resources. Left unchecked, the scrub and bramble
would continue to spread westwards across the site, further decreasing the area of accessible
grassland.

The key project for the future of Milton Common is to manage the scrub and bramble cover,
restoring it to an appropriate level and then maintaining this in the future. It is proposed to clear the

Page 55




bramble and scrub that has developed over the past decade, restoring the levels of this kind of
vegetation to around that seen in 2004. It is important to retain a variety of ages of scrub cover, from
the longer, more woody older areas to shorter, younger ones as different species which need the
scrub cover require different kinds of scrub to thrive. This will ensure that the Common continues to
support a wide diversity of species.

The areas that have converted to scrub in the last 10 years should still have sufficient seed bank in
the soil that the grassland should be able to re-grow, although this will be confirmed through the
contamination survey (see above). However bramble and scrub older than this would have
decimated the available seed bank and so coastal grassland is unlikely to grow back. As such, the
level of scrub seen in 2004 is considered appropriate and achievable in terms of grassland
restoration although this will need to be implemented flexibly given the nature of Milton Common
and the need to maintain an appropriate mix of types of scrub cover. Some species prefer open
scrub whilst other such as the nightingale require dense thickets so the management option will aim
to provide a variety of age, height and density of the habitat.

Decreasing the level of scrub will also help the site to feel safer, reducing visual obstacles,
particularly at the site's entrances. Nonetheless, keeping a certain amount of scrub is important in
maintaining the character of the Common and also in making sure that access to the lakes is
restricted. Nonetheless, this project will open up over 7ha of the site, improving the attractiveness
and openness of the Common. The levelling of the site will ensure that once the scrub is restored to
2004 levels, it can be managed mechanically to make sure that it is maintained at this level.

The existing HLS grant which the city council has is sufficient to fund a degree of scrub
management. However the modest scale of the grant is not nearly enough to fund the scale of
change being envisaged here and only until 2022.

The project would involve a contractor being employed to physically remove scrub under close
supervision from the city council's countryside service. The city council's countryside service will
then work with community groups and volunteers to re-establish the appropriate grassland type in
the cleared areas. This will open up the site whilst also fostering a sense of ownership of the site
and help to inform the nearby community of what is happening at Milton Common.

Once restored to around 2004 levels, a rotating management regime will be put in place to provide
the mosaic of young and mature scrub ensuring that the structural diversity that will appeal to a wide
variety of species is in place. Low intensity management at regular intervals is generally better than
major work every few years.

The cost of maintaining the reduced scrub and bramble area has been

Maintenance frequenc . . )
9 y annualised based on mechanical maintenance.

Phasing Continuous

Page 56




| Site levelling

Objective A v" Objective B v" Objective C Objective D

The site's history has left a series of sharp undulations and ruts which makes mechanical
maintenance extremely difficult and means that management with hand tools only is usually
required. This in turn makes the management of the site more labour intensive and difficult than
would be the case if the use of some machinery was possible.

Following the scrub and bramble clearance, it will be possible to make a more accurate visual
assessment of the ground levels across the Common and assess where a degree of levelling would
be beneficial in specific locations. Ballast would then be imported onto the site to fill in ruts and other
small ground irregularities so that subsequent vegetation that develops can be kept mowed. This will
diversify the vegetation within the site. Suitable coastal grassland, translocated from similar sites
such as Fort Cumberland, would then be used to help establish the coastal heath habitat.

Once the site is level, it will be necessary to hire machinery, through the city council's Parks
Maintenance Contract or another suitable mechanism, to manage the site and begin the bramble
and scrub clearance (see below).

Site specific projects which would not require ongoing maintenance

Phasing Continuous
\ Brent goose foraging area
Objective A v" Objective B Objective C Objective D

Milton Common is identified in the Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy as being an important
terrestrial area for Brent geese to feed at high tide. The northern amenity grassland strip is often
used by the species, often as a 'stepping stone' between feeding on the intertidal areas of
Langstone Harbour and the nearby fenced off Brent goose refuges at Portsmouth College and to the
east of Baffins Pond. Whilst the variety in grassland types adds interest to the Common and also
acts as a buffer to the busy Eastern Road, it is rarely used for recreation as it is largely made up of
the land between the Eastern Road shared foot and cycle path and the Eastern Road itself.

In the future, this area will be protected and further enhanced for Brent geese by altering the mowing
regime to a short mow in late summer. The edges of the area will also be managed to minimise
disturbance to Brent geese by introducing elements of longer grass to visibly shield dogs, who can
be perceived as predators. Mowing will also be used to encourage access onto the Common as
opposed to onto the foraging area. Finally. the interpretation boards (see below) will also highlight
the importance of the area for geese and the importance of not disturbing the birds while they use
the area.

Maintenance frequency | The cost of the altered mowing regime has been annualised.

Phasing Continuous

Page 57



Objective A Objective B v" Objective C v" Objective D v

The benches at Milton Common are now relatively
old and in a poor state of repair whilst their

design is not particularly appropriate, as can be
seen in figure 17. The quality and quantity of the
benches was something which was highlighted by
respondents in the SDMP visitor survey as
something which needs improving.

Replacing the benches will make the Common a

more pleasant place to relax and spend time. Figure 17: An example of the benches currently in
However it is important that the design of the place at the Common.
replacement benches is in keeping with the semi- Portsmouth City Council

natural character of the Common. Figure 14 sets
out the location of the benches and picnic benches at the moment. It is proposed that the benches
be replaced in their current positions.

Prior to the benches being replaced along with new bins and upgrades to the path network (see
below), a detailed phase I, on-site botanical survey of the path network will be done to identify
where there are currently notable plant species close to these features which would be damaged by
the construction of the upgraded path or replacing the benches or bins. These would be protected or
translocated to another location on the Common.

Maintenance frequency | Refurbishment of each bench every five years

Phasing Short term
\ Designation as a Local Nature Reserve
Objective A Objective B v Objective C v Objective D

It is considered that the site meets all of the qualifying criteria as a local nature reserve. Designating
the site will not necessitate any particular changes to the management of the site. However the
designation will give the site more credence and highlight its role both in nature conservation and
recreation.

Maintenance frequency | One-off measure

Phasing Short term

Page»,58



Objective A Objective B v" Objective C v" Objective D v

As with the benches, the bins which are in place at the Common are rather dated and at the end of

their useful life and again was highlighted as something which needed replacing in the SDMP visitor

survey. Following current best practice, combined bins for refuse and dog waste are proposed
(figure 18). The current location of the bins is set

VAW IR (. e
5 A?f\é.?s; % out in figure 18.

It is generally considered that the current locations
of the dog waste bins follows the principals in the
evidence base of locating bins close to entrances,
key path intersections and shorter mown areas to
encourage their use.

As with the project to replace the benches (see
above) and upgrade the path network (see below),
a phase Il botanical survey will be undertaken prior
to implementation of the project so that any notable
species which would be effected can be protected

Figure 18: An example of a combined refuse and | or translocated.
dog waste bin in Winchester.

Courtesy of Winchester City Council

It should be noted that the capital cost of the bin
itself as well as maintenance of it would be paid for through the mitigation framework (see section
5), emptying the binds would continue to be funded and carried out by the city council.

Maintenance frequency |Assumes replacement of one bin a year

Phasing Short term

Page 59



\ Path network

Objective A Objective B v" Objective C v" Objective D v

The path network across the Common varies a great deal in terms of width and quality. The western
north-south path is level and ~2m wide in the central section but is only ~0.5m wide at the northern
and southern ends. Similarly, the rest of the path network is generally narrower and far less even.
This is shown in the photo-montage in figure 19. When asked as part of the SDMP visitor survey, a
large proportion would use the site more if the path network was improved.

It is proposed that the relevant paths in figure 20 are upgraded to 2m width, surfaced with
compacted gravel. In total, this involves the upgrading of 3.2km of footpath. This meets the
recommended minimum standards set out by the Highways Agency for footpath widths and
accessibility. Those paths, particularly around path junctions, which would not be upgraded could
still be used as informal paths which would add an element of variety to the path network.

Upgraded paths will use a permeable compacted gravel, ideally a local substrate, which is suited to
the natural feel of the Common. This again will ensure that the path surfacing continues to blend in
with the natural feel of the Common and also ensure that it is possible to go for a walk without
getting muddy. The path edges will not be specifically defined, allowing plants to colonise the path at
the edges, held in check by only by the wear on the paths. As with the project to replace the
benches and bins (see above), a phase Il botanical survey will be undertaken prior to
implementation of the project so that any notable species which would be effected can be protected
or translocated.

Figure 19: Examples of the varying nature of the path network at Milton Common.

Portsmouth City Council

Maintenance frequency |Repair of 5% of footpath network per year

Phasing Medium term

Page.60



Objective A Objective B

v" Objective C

\ Circular walks

v" Objective D v

v Eatern Road shared use outs

Chocler wah
' Wiy markors pooon bl oebonm

== = Fulure path netwzth

- = Coastal peth

@ Croram Cogravgtnt sne statoem ngtrl Ondnanos S Emncw (rarvtm VOD1S0T

Figure 20: Proposed circular walks

Portsmouth City Council

-
s

-
-

One of the features of a site
which can be attractive for
dog walkers is safe and
largely open walks. Two
routes will be created, a
longer, 2.6km route, which
takes in the three
predominant characters of
Milton Common - the
tussocky grassland, the
species rich meadow and
the amenity grassland area
in the west. The second will
be shorter (1.8km) and more

focussed around the centre
of the site.

This will particularly provide
for the needs of dog walkers
through providing pleasant
routes for those looking for
a relatively short, non-linear
route to use based on a
walk of up to an hour.

Through the use of the
upgraded path network, the
routes would not be muddy,
even in the winter. The
routes would be set out on
the interpretation boards at
the site entrances (see
below) and potentially
marked by subtle 'stump’
type marking. The route is

set out in figure 20.

Maintenance frequency |5% of capital cost per year

Phasing

Medium term

Page

61



\ Welcome and interpretation boards

Objective A Objective B v" Objective C v" Objective D v

The existing signage and interpretation boards at the entrance to Milton Common do

not provide a sufficient welcome (figure 20) to the site and are not considered fit for purpose (figure
20). These will be replaced with new signhage that reflects the measures in this management
framework including the circular walks and the
north-south shared use route (see above).

The new signs will welcome visitors to Milton
Common Local Nature Reserve, provide
information on the site's wildlife, a map of the path
network setting out which are intended as
footpaths and which are shared use as well as
information for dog walkers.

The design of the signs will be of a high quality,
using materials which are suited to the Common's
semi-natural character whilst the messages that :
they set out will be positive and clear. In particular, | rigure 21: The existing interpretation board on the
they will make it perfectly clear that dogs are Eastern Road.

welcome on Milton Common off of a lead and that Portsmouth City Council

dog mess should be picked up, bagged and

disposed of in one of the available bins.

The city council's HLS grant covers the replacement of four interpretation boards. This project will
replace the remaining two and ensure that they are maintained to a high standard in the future.

Maintenance frequency |Assumes that each sign would need to be replaced every 25 years.

Phasing Ongoing
\ Leaflet for new residents
Objective A Objective B Objective C v" Objective D

It is important to instil positive behaviours in new residents from the outset. An information leaflet for
new residents highlighting the facilities which are available at Milton Common as well as the nature
conservation value of Langsone Harbour will be produced. This will make sure that new residents,
who may not be familiar with the city, can see the quality of the spaces and routes that they live
near.

Phasing Ongoing

Pages62



\ Community engagement

Objective A Objective B v" Objective C v" Objective D v

It is key that the local community continue to feel a sense of ownership of Milton Common. As such,
a number of the conservation projects will engage with local residents and volunteers to help shape
and carry out the project.

Further leaflets and other communication could be produced to help existing users of the Common
further appreciate the natural value which it has.

Phasing Ongoing
| Monitoring framework
Objective A Objective B Objective C v" Objective D

It is necessary to monitor the delivery of the mitigation measures. On this basis, a monitoring report
would be compiled either every five years or after the completion of a significant tranche of the
capital measures, based on the situation at the time.

Phasing Ongoing

4.10 Overall, it is considered that the projects above will fulfil the aims and objectives of the
management framework. With particular reference to objective D, the package of projects
was also discussed with Dr Sarah Knight, a visiting research fellow at the University of
Portsmouth's Department of Psychology. Dr Knight's authored Understanding the
Psychology of Walkers with Dogs and is an expert on behavioural management. Dr Knight
considered that the package of measures as a whole should be effective and attractive to
dog walkers. There were some specific projects which were considered as potentially leading
to conflict between dog walkers and other users of the Common. As such, these were
removed from the final package of projects.

4.11 The proposed projects have been mapped and the character area analysis which was done

on Milton Common as it is today has been updated to show how the Common would appear
after the projects above have been implemented. This is shown in figure 21

Page 63



BRENT GOOSE AREA

This section will be short mown in the late summer 1o make it highly effective for
Brent geese, enabling them to use it as a stepping stone between Langstone
Harbour and the nearby refuges at Portsmouth Cellege and Baffins Pond,

SITE ENTRANCES

Entrances to the site will be clear and welcoming. Scrub will have been cleared,
new interpretation boards will give information about the wikilife that can be seen
on the Common and the circular routes which are available.

SCRUB & BRAMBLE

The westward spread of the scrub will have been arrested and
reversed, opening up a sizeable amount of the Common and
restoring it to grassland. A strip of scrub around the lakes has been
maintained 1o make sure that there is a diversity of habitat type and
to make sure that access to the lakes is restricted.

PATH NETWORK

The path network will have been upgraded to a consistent, high
standard and will include a circular walk, taking in all of the different
habitat types at the Common,

TUSOCKY GRASSLAND

The centre section of the site will be dominated by the wilder,
tusccky grassland. Following the scrub clearance project, this area
will be significantly opened up and new areas of grassland created,

AMENITY GRASSLAND

This ferms the entryway 1o the site from a number of areas and is
often very busy. It will largely the same in the future akhough some
of the scrub around the edges will have been cleared.

SITE INFRASTRUCTURE

The bins, benches and interpretation boards will have been
replaced with ones that fit in with the character of Miton Common,
A circylar walk, using the new path will take in the various different
habitat types that are in the Common.

SPECIES RICH MEADOW

The grassland management of the southern section of the Common, adjacent to
Moorings Way will be altered to create a species rich grassland meadow. This
follows a successful trial which has taken place on the northern saction of the
Common which has significantly diversified the species mix of the grassland and
preduced Bee Orchid Spikes.

Page:;64



Esstern Rosd shared use route  Future character areas

Choulsr walk Tisocky grase
B Amecty grass
Spacies NCh Mmeatow
B Brent govse foraging aes
W Tress
B Scrub & bramble
Coastaf path W Laies
W Other

Wy markers polental locatons

Futem path netwok

® Crnm Qemiags deies Rt Crenan Sy L muber WENGLM

Figure 22: The character areas of Milton Common following implementation of the framework.




4.12 Overall, the character of the different parts of Milton Common as it would be after the
projects above have been implemented has been mapped and is set out in figure 21. This
shows that the proposed breakdown of the character areas of the site is:

4.13

Character areas of Milton Common after implementation of the framework

Character area

Tusocky grass
Amenity grass
Meadow grass
Brent goose foraging area

TOTAL accessible area:

Trees
Bramble & scrub
Lakes
Other

TOTAL inaccessible area:

Area in m?

247,171.22
27,080.07
65,569.14
32,275.28
372,095.71

22,873.54
43,393.22
20,866.59
300.24

87,433.68

Note: all figures rounded to two decimal places.

Area in hectares

24.72
2.71
6.56
3.23
37.21

2.29
4.34
2.09
0.03
6.46

Percentage of
total site area

53.79%
5.89%
14.27%
8.67%
82.62%

4.98%
9.44%
4.54%
0.07%
19.03%

Through the implementation of the projects in this framework, there will be a substantial

increase in the amount of accessible space at the Common. There will also be an increase in

the diversity of the habitat which is available.

Change in the character areas as a result of the implementation of the framework

Character area

Tusocky grass
Amenity grass
Meadow grass
Brent goose foraging area

TOTAL accessible area:

Trees
Bramble & scrub
Lakes
Other

TOTAL inaccessible area:

Area in m?

24,618.65
-49,749.13
65,569.14
32,275.28
72,713.94

0.00
-72,410.48
0.00
0.00
-72,410.49

Note: all figures rounded to two decimal places.

Area in hectares

2.46
-4.97
6.56
3.23
7.27

0.00
-7.24
0.00
0.00
-7.24

Percentage of
total site area

5.33%
-10.84%
14.27%
8.67%
17.43%

0.00%
-15.77%
0.00%
0.00%
-15.78

Page 66




4.14 The implementation of the framework will make a substantial improvement to the visitor
experience at Milton Common including through substantial improvements to its biodiversity
value, which is one of its key draws. This specifically includes clearing a large amount of scrub
which will open up new space.

4.15 The scrub clearance project will create a total of 7.24 of new accessible space at the Common.
In other areas of the country, new space which is intended to act as a draw away from
European sites for the occupants of new development is planned for on the basis of 8ha of new
space per 1000 new residents.

4.16 Based on the make-up of the sites and the type of development which is likely at the potential
development sites, it has been calculated that there would be an extra 854 residents after
completion of the developments™®. As such, this would require an additional 6.832ha of space
to be available®.

4.17 As such, the 7.24ha of new space which would be created together with the improvements to
the site as a whole will mean that it is sufficient to act as a effective and attractive draw to the
scale of new residents in the potential development sites.

'® This is based on capacity analysis of the potential development sites and the types of development which would make up the total of
390 net additional dwellings.
' Amount of new space required =854 x 0.008

Page 67



Wl

(Y «or.m

= S
.. T

Heading west into the autumn sunset (2012)



5.1

5.2

5.3

54

5.5

5.6

5.7

As well as setting out the management measures that the city council are proposing at Milton
Common, this plan also serves as a mitigation framework to enable the schemes which
make up the proposed development sites to provide a mitigation framework addressing the
increase in recreational pressure which the developments would cause and the significant
effect that this would cause on the SPA.

It is proposed to use improvements to Milton Common in order to provide a mitigation
framework to address the increased recreational pressure which the proposed developments
at Milton will bring. This will enable a series of capital measures to be put in place which will
improve the quality of Milton Common, enabling it to draw in more recreational pressure and
ensure that there is no significant effect on the two SPAs. The city council will continue to
fund the baseline management of the site which is set out in section 2 of this framework.

The city council will continue to manage the site as per the baseline management regime set
out in section 3. This essentially covers the basic management of the site as it currently is
however does not include any of the improvement projects set out in section 4. Whilst the
measures set out in section 4 would significantly enhance Milton Common and provide
numerous benefits, there are no identified funds which could be used to implement them. As
such, if the anticipated development in the Milton area does not go ahead, there would be no
way to fund the proposed management measures and the baseline management regime will
continue.

What does the mitigation framework in this plan address?

It is considered that drawing the increase in recreational pressure which will arise from the
development away from the coast and towards Milton Common represents a robust way of
ensuring that there is no increase in mortality in the SPA population. The measures set out in
section 4 will improve the visitor experience at The Common and the natural environment in
such a way as to draw more people into the Common rather than using the coast and
managing that increase in use to make sure that there is no conflict between different users.

It should be noted however that this management framework provides a solution for
addressing the significant effect that would be caused by the direct increase in recreational
pressure from the specific developments identified in 1.9 on the SPA coast directly in
proximity to the schemes. It does not address the general increase in recreational pressure
that these developments will cause across the Solent in combination with other development
schemes. As such, a mitigation package to address this should also be provided. A way of
providing such a mitigation package is set out in the Solent Special Protection Areas SPD.

This management framework does not address any other issue, such as disruption to bird
flightlines or light pollution, which could arise from these developments and cause a
significant effect on the SPA designation. Nor does it address any effect which the
development could cause on other designations, most notably Langstone Harbour Site of
Special Scientific Interest and the Solent Maritime Special Area of Conservation.

The wildfowl and waders which use the two SPAs also use a variety of terrestrial sites to
feed and roost on at high tide. There are several of these in the Milton area which collectively
form a network of sites which are used by SPA species at high tide. However most notable
are the two playing fields at the University of Portsmouth's Langstone campus. These are
part of the potential development site and the western field directly abuts the St James's

Page 69



Hospital sites. This management framework does not address any impact which
development could have on these high tide feeding and roosting sites.

5.8 Finally, this management framework does not address any impact which the development
could have on biodiversity generally, such as destruction of on-site habitat, or any impact
which the development might have on a European Protected Species'.

Management and maintenance

5.9 Under the Habitats Regulations, it is essential that the mitigation package is installed and
then maintained in perpetuity. Recent case law sets the definition of in-perpetuity as being
between 80-125 years. Given that the framework is providing infrastructure which is essential
for the development and needs to be in place for the lifetime of development, it is sensible to
use a figure of 100 years given that this is also used for other types of infrastructure, in
particular coastal defences.

5.10 Of course the nature of the development funding which is available for the works means that
this will generally be a lump sum paid when the scheme commences construction or based
on the phasing of construction. However the city council would be willing to discuss
alternative ways of structuring the funding of mitigation packages. However these would
need to provide certainty that the funding would be at least equivalent to that which would be
available if funded through a lump sum.

5.11 The cost matrix below sets out the cost of each item in the restoration framework, both in
terms of the total capital cost and the cost of maintenance over a 100 year time horizon.
Costs have been rounded to the nearest hundred.

Project name Capital cost Maintenance cost Total cost
Continuous
Grassland management £8,000 £335,700 £343,700
Bramble and scrub clearance £9,000 £923,100 £932,100
Community engagement £335,700 £335,700
Site levelling £4,000 £4,000
Information pack £1,500 £1,500
Monitoring framework £50,000 £50,000
Internal staff monitoring costs £8,300 £8,300
Short term
Land and water contamination survey  £18,000 £18,000
Benches £7,500 £51,300 £58,800
Bins £3,400 £75,500 £78,900
Designation as a local nature reserve  £1,000 £1,000

¥ These are also protected through Regulation 41 of the Habitats Regulations and include bats and Great Crested Newts amongst other

species.
Page:. 70



Medium to long term

Path network £221,300 £928,600 £1,149,900
Circular walks £2,000 £16,800 £18,800
Welcome and interpretation boards £3,300 £42,000 £45,300

5.12 The mitigation framework set out in section 4 and costed in section 5 has been scaled to
match the level of development which could take place in Milton. As such, it is necessary to
calculate the scale of mitigation which will be required for each scheme.

5.13 It is considered that calculating this on a 'per new home' basis is the most pragmatic way
forward. On this basis, the costs are set out in table 2, below. Figures are not rounded except
the cost per new home, which is rounded to the nearest pound.

Sub-total capital cost £287,300
Sub-total revenue cost £2,758,700
Total cost £3,046,000
Contingency (12% of total cost) £365,520
Total (including contingency) £3,411,520
Number of houses in the potential development sites: 390

Cost per new home £8,747
(rounded to the nearest pound)

Applying the mitigation framework to specific development schemes

5.14 The city council will conduct a project level HRA on all development proposals at the full or
outline planning stage, as required under the Habitats Regulations. If an appropriate means
of securing a suitably scaled mitigation package, as set out in this framework, is provided
prior to the granting of planning permission, then it should be possible for the HRA to
conclude that there would be no likelihood of a significant effect on the two SPAs as a result
of the direct increase in recreation which the scheme would result in.

5.15 The costs set out in tables 1 and 2 are based on 2015 prices. When putting together legal
agreements accompanying any development scheme, the increase in costs which would
have taken place between 2015 and the date of the planning permission will be calculated
and the costs increased or decreased accordingly.

5.16 Funding received from development schemes in line with this framework is to address the
specific requirements of the Habitats Regulations rather than a planning requirement. As
such, it will be ringfenced specifically for the delivery of the management framework.

5.17 It should be noted that the proposals in this management framework are one way in which

developments could provide a package of mitigation measures which would remove the
likelihood of a significant effect as a result of disturbance from recreation on the two SPAs.

Page 71



Applicants are free to propose an alternative approach to the protection of the two SPAs from
disturbance caused by recreation and this will be considered by the city council.

5.18 Natural England have been engaged in the preparation of this management framework
through. They have advised the city council that the measures set out in section 4 should be
sufficient to avoid any likelihood of a significant effect on the two SPAs from increased
recreational pressure caused by the proposed developments at Milton in the proposed
development sites, subject to the provisions of paragraphs 5.5 - 5.8 above. As such,
providing that development schemes adhere to this framework, it should be possible to
conclude in the project level HRAs that there would not be a significant effect as a result of
disturbance from recreation on the two SPAs.

Pages72



Page 73






6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

This framework is intended to provide a basis for the future management of Milton Common,
its designation as a Local Nature Reserve. It also provides a mitigation framework for
development which is expected in the Milton area to enable it to proceed in compliance with
the Habitats Regulations.

This framework provides a long term vision for the future of Milton Common and sets out the
capital projects and the management measures and ongoing maintenance which will be
needed to ensure that is delivered and remains in place for the future.

Detailed management plans will be put together on a regular basis which link back to this
framework and set out how the specific projects which have been identified will be
implemented, when this will happen and how.

The city council will keep the management framework under close review to ensure that it
continues to meet these goals. This will include at least five yearly reports into the
implementation of the management framework which will be published as part of the city
council's Annual Monitoring Report.

Page 75



Page 76



rear cover image: a small white taking nectar (2012)

Page 77



Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

¥

City Development and Cultural Services
Portsmouth City Council

Guildhall Square, Portsmouth

PO1 2AU

Telephone: 023 9268 8633
Email: planningpolicy@portsmouthcc.®ey.uk /

You can get this
Portsmouth City
Council information
in large print, Braille,
audio or in another
language by calling
023 9268 8633.

Committed to clearar communication.

/‘ Corporate member of
:/‘ Plain English Campalgn m




APPENDIX B

SUMMARY OF COSTS

Mitigation Framework Based on 100 year Time Horizon

Project Name Capital Cost Revenue Cost Total
£ £ £
Continuous
Grassland management 8,000 335,700 343,700
Bramble and scrub clearance 9,000 923,100 932,100
Community engagement 335,700 335,700
Site levelling 4,000 4,000
Information pack 1,500 1,500
Monitoirng framework 50,000 50,000
Internal staff monitoirng costs 8,300 0 8,300
Short Term
Land and water contamination survey 18,000 18,000
Benches 7,500 51,300 58,800
Bins 3,400 75,500 78,900
Designation as a Local Nature Reserve 1,000 1,000
Medium to long term
Path network 221,300 928,600 1,149,900
Circular walks 2,000 16,300 18,800
Welcome and interpretation boards 3,300 42,000 45,300
Total 287,300 2,758,700 3,046,000
£
Capital Cost 287,300
Revenue Cost 2,758,700
Total Cost 3,046,000
Contingency (12%) 365,520
Total (including contingency) 3,411,520
Total number of houses proposed 390
Cost per new home 8,747

Page 79




This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

Local Nature Reserve declaration

Page 81



Page 82



National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949

In pursuance of Sections 19 and 21 of the above-mentioned Act, and all other powers
enabling them in that behalf, the Portsmouth City Council hereby declares that the land
containing 46 ha or thereabouts situated in the County of Hampshire and shown edged
blue on the attached plan has been acquired by the Council AND in pursuance of Section
19 (2) of the above-mentioned Act and all other powers aforesaid the Council hereby
further declare that the said land is being managed as a Nature Reserve.

This declaration may be referred to as the Milton Common Local Nature Reserve

Declaration 20.....

Given under the Common Seal of the Council twenty-first day of July Two Thousand and
Fifteen.

(Signed) . . ...

(Signed) . . ...

Page 83



e, Milton Common.Local Nature Reserve ./}

.

A e
& TR B “ﬁmégggq
7 e -01137.3,3% aeg

" | 2
! " 'R i
- v - -
- L L
. i
A I8 oy
' f ey | | ;
] [ . .8 ¢ I |1 |
- ) |\
s ] s —~
\ . | | ol —
- . |\« p8 - ~ N |
databasa Tigh® Ordnance S-an\y.l.u whcenGmbar 10007867 ]

Page 84



Appendix D

Letter of support from Natural England

Page 85



Page 86



Date: 29 June 2015
Ourref: 157673

ENGLAND
David Hayward

Principal Planning Officer Customer Services
Portsmouth City Council Horbeam House
Guildhall Square Crewe Business Park

m Electra W,

Portsmouth, PO1 2AU Cri(\:/\tliaa ay
Cheshire

BY EMAIL ONLY W1 663

T 0300 060 3900
Dear David

LETTER OF SUPPORT: MILTON COMMON LOCAL NATURE RESERVE: RESTORATION AND
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Chichester and Langstone Harbours Special Protection Area (SPA)
Portsmouth Harbour SPA

Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the
natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future
generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.

The Draft Restoration and Management Framework for Milton Common was sent to Natural
England on 29 June 2015.

Natural England’s advice is that the delivery of this management and restoration framework, in
addition to contributions towards the Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership, is sufficient to
mitigate the recreational disturbance impacts of the SPA, of up to 897 new residents at Milton.

As mentioned with the Framework, the restoration and management of Milton Common does not
mitigate other impacts associated with the Draft Lockway Road Milton Site Allocation, such as loss
or increased disturbance of SPA supporting habitat located near or within the allocation, disruption
to flight lines or light pollution. These issues will need to be dealt with separately by each developer
to ensure no likely significant effect on the SPA. We advise that the developers liaise directly with
Natural England at an appropriate time over these other impacts.

Portsmouth City Council (PCC) should also ensure that the appropriate contributions to deliver the
mitigation in perpetuity, as detailed in the Framework, are secured from each developer as part of a
S106, or other legal agreement, prior to commencement of the development. The key infrastructure
works, such as the circular walk, signage, and significant scrub clearance, should be delivered prior
to first occupation.

At this stage, we can see no reason why Milton Common should not be designated as a Local
Nature Reserve. We will provide PCC with additional advice regarding this at a later date.

Yours sincerely

Francesca Barker
Dorset, Hampshire and Isle of Wight Area Team (0300 060 0873)

Page 1 of 1

z O
wl
Zud
]
b Page 87
) : ; ; ;
Wi ® Natural England is accredited to the Cabinet Office Service Excellence Standard



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 5

Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

Title of meeting: Cabinet Member for Planning, Regeneration and Economic
Development

Date of meeting: 21 July 2015

Subject: Grant to Drayton Centre - Use of Drayton & Farlington CIL
Neighbourhood Proportion funds

Report by: City Development Manager

Wards affected: Drayton & Farlington

Key decision: No

Full Council decision: No

1. Purpose of report

1.1 To seek the release of up to £33,312 from the Drayton & Farlington Neighbourhood
Proportion of the Community Infrastructure Levy (‘the Drayton & Farlington CIL").

2. Recommendations

2.1 That up to £33,312 be released from the Drayton & Farlington Neighbourhood CIL to
fund roof replacement works to the Drayton Centre.

3. Background

3.1 Ward Councillors have been approached by the Chairman of the Drayton Centre for a grant
to support the replacement of the roof of the Drayton Centre. All three ward members
support this proposal.

3.2 Ward members put the request to the Drayton & Farlington Neighbourhood Forum
Committee on 27 May 2015, who agreed with the proposal to use up to £33,312 from the
Drayton & Farlington CIL to part fund the Drayton Centre roof repairs. Members also gained
support for the proposal at the open Neighbourhood Forum on 9 July 2015.

3.3 There is currently £84,245 in the Drayton and Farlington CIL fund, £83,000 having
previously committed to improvements at Drayton Park.

4, Reasons for recommendations

4.1 This proposal would help maintain and enhance community facilities which will face
increased demand as a consequence of the planning approvals which have generated the
CIL receipt.

4.3  All three members are supportive of this scheme.

5. Equality impact assessment (EIA)

5.1 This report purely deals with financial matters so an EIA is not required.

Pade 89

www.portsmouth.gov.uk



6.1

Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

Legal Implications

The use of CIL monies is regulated in accordance with Section 216, Planning Act, 2008,
which requires CIL to be applied to funding specified infrastructure, including sporting and
recreational facilities. CIL receipts may also be used to fund administrative expenditure for
providing such facilities. In the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), it is stated
that "The levy is intended to focus on the provision of new infrastructure and should not be
used to remedy pre-existing deficiencies in infrastructure provision unless those
deficiencies will be made more severe by new development”". However, the NPPG
continues "The levy can be used to increase the capacity of existing infrastructure or to
repair failing existing infrastructure, if that is necessary to support development".

The Portfolio Holder should consider the NPPG guidance in determining whether or not the
funding available may be applied as proposed.

Director of Finance's Comments

The financial detail is contained within the body of this report.

Signed by:

Appendices:

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972

The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a material
extent by the author in preparing this report:

Title of document Location

The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ rejected

by

................................. ON L

Signed by:

Page 90
www.portsmouth.gov.uk



Agenda Iltem 6

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY

Title of meeting: Cabinet Member for Planning, Regeneration and Economic

Development

Subject: Investment in Advanced Engineering and Scientific
Manufacturing

Date of meeting: 215 July 2015

Report by: City Development Manager

Wards affected: All

1. Requested by

1.1 Full council.

2. Purpose

2.1 To inform members of the current work to promote the advanced engineering and
scientific manufacturing sectors.

3. Information requested

3.1 A programme of activity is underway to increase the number of investment
enquiries we receive, to increase the number of new projects actually secured
and to promote the key sectors within the Solent Economy - advanced
manufacturing and engineering and aerospace are all identified as key sectors
within the Solent Economic Plan. The status quo is a combination of:

Enquiries received via Invest in Portsmouth website, including the
commercial property database

Enquiries received via the network of economic development officers across
Hampshire and via UKTI

An Inward Investment Board and Working Group which includes Portsmouth
and Southampton City Council, PUSH, Hampshire County Council the LEP
and UKTI

Enquiries received via Hampshire County Council Economic Development
team, particularly their key sector managers

Solent LEP Inward Investment Strategy

3.2 In October 2014, Solent LEP produced the Inward Investment Strategy, which
includes plans to create a single expert, efficient and effective FDI entity with the

Pade 91
www.portsmouth.gov.uk



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY

objective of dramatically increasing the flow of FDI into the Solent area, through
effective coordination of inward investment activity across the Solent LEP area and
more targeted global promotion of the Solent LEP area to prospective investors.
This is supported by PUSH and all the PUSH authorities.

3.3  There has been some issues with the creation of this team and in the interim
Portsmouth are working with Southampton, Hampshire, PUSH, the LEP and UKTI
to support the growth of key sectors. In particular the County Council has key sector
officers who work with the partners to promote the area for businesses within this
sector who are seeking to locate to this area, those that already exist in the area
and are looking to expand and those that are looking for other elements of support.
UKTI works in partnership with Portsmouth to promote the area and attract both
Investment and Trade in all key sectors including high technology engineering and
scientific jobs. Direct support is also given to SME's within these sectors from the
SME officer within the Economic Development team in the Council.

3.4  There are a significant number of Partners working across the area promoting the

area as a place for these sectors to locate and grow, helping to join clusters
together and support SME's.

Signed by: City Development Manager

Appendices:

Appendix A: Glossary

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972

The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a
material extent by the author in preparing this report:

Title of document Location

Page 92
www.portsmouth.gov.uk



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY

Appendix A: Glossary

FDI

Solent LEP

PUSH

UKTI

SME

Foreign Direct Investment - investment from one country into another
(normally by companies rather than governments) that involves establishing
operations or acquiring tangible assets, including stakes in other businesses.

Solent Local Enterprise Partnership - The Solent LEP is led by the
business community and supported by three university partners, the further
education sector, three unitary authorities, eight district councils, one county
council and the voluntary and community sector - all working together to
secure a more prosperous and sustainable future for the Solent area. The
Solent LEP's vision is to create an environment which will better facilitate
growth and private sector investment in the Solent area, allow business to
grow, become more profitable, greener and enable new businesses to form
and prosper.

Partnership for Urban South Hampshire - the partnership was formed in
2003 and is now made up of twelve South Hampshire local authorities
comprising the unitary authorities of Portsmouth, Southampton, and the Isle
of Wight; Hampshire County Council and the district authorities of Eastleigh,
East Hampshire, Fareham, Gosport, Havant, Test Valley, New Forest and
Winchester. PUSH works collaboratively with partner agencies in the sub
region as well as key Government Departments to ensure joined up
strategies, pooling of resources and delivery of transformational programmes
that focus on better outcomes for local people.

PUSH authorities recognise the benefits of working together to support the
sustainable economic growth of the sub region and to facilitate the strategic
planning functions necessary to support that growth. PUSH has no statutory
powers or functions but works collaboratively with the Solent LEP to deliver
its distinct but complementary roles and objectives.

UK Trade and Investment - this is a government agency which encourages
and supports overseas companies to look at the UK as the best place to set
up or expand their business.

Small and Medium Sized Enterprises - businesses whose personnel
numbers fall below certain size limits. Small enterprises outnumber large
companies by a wide margin and also employ many more people. SMEs are
also said to be responsible for driving innovation and competition in many
economic sectors.

The European Commission uses the following size thresholds:

Company category | Employees Turnover Balance sheet total
Medium Sized <250 <€50m <€43m
Small <50 <€10m <€10m
Micro <10 <€2m <€2m
Page 93

www.portsmouth.gov.uk



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY

Page 94
www.portsmouth.gov.uk



	Agenda
	3 Potential Development Sites in Milton Update
	4 Milton Common Local Nature Reserve Restoration and Management Framework
	Appendix A - Milton Common LNR Restoration and Management Framework
	Appendix B - cost matrix
	Appendix C - LNR declaration (merged)
	Appendix C cover
	Appendix C - LNR declaration

	Appendix D - Natural England letter of support (merged)
	Appendix D cover
	Appendix D - Natural England letter of support


	5 Grant to Drayton Centre  - Use of Drayton & Farlington CIL Neighbourhood Proportion funds
	6 Investment in Advanced Engineering and Scientific Manufacturing

